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About Miramar

A dynamic and design-oriented  
group providing lifestyle products

Established in Hong Kong in 1957, Miramar Hotel and  
Investment Company, Limited (Miramar Group) is a group with  
a diversified service-oriented business portfolio comprising  
stylish hotels and serviced apartments, property rental, food and  
beverage, and travel services in Hong Kong and Mainland China.  
Miramar Group has been listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange  
since 1970 (HKEx Stock Code: 71) and is a member of  
Henderson Land Group.



1948
Miramar Hotel opened its doors  
and became the first postwar  
hotel in Hong Kong.

1957
Businessman Young Chi Wan  
took over the 192-room hotel 
property from a Spanish  
mission. Together with  
Dr Ho Sien Heng, they founded 
Miramar Hotel and Investment 
Company, Limited.

1966
Miramar Hotel was the first  
hotel in Hong Kong to join  
an international hotel network, 
taking advantage of the  
worldwide marketing exposure.

1993
Acquired by Henderson Land 
Group.

2002
The Group grew its property 
portfolio with the development 
of Knutsford Steps, adjacent to 
Miramar Shopping Centre.

2006
Miramar Travel was launched.

2008
Miramar Hotel was re-branded 
as The Mira Hong Kong.

2010
The Mira Hong Kong became  
the first Hong Kong hotel to join  
the Berlin-based cutting edge 
collective, Design HotelsTM 
network.

2012
Miramar Group marked its  
55th anniversary with  
the opening of Mira Mall.

1970
Miramar Hotel and Investment 
Company, Limited went public.

1973
The renowned Tsui Hang Village 
Restaurant began building a 
loyal following with authentic 
Cantonese cuisine. It continues 
to serve up the same great 
regional classics and tasty dim 
sum to this day.

1978
With eight years of listing on  
the local stock exchange, 
Miramar Hotel grew to over 
1,300 rooms, making it  
the largest hotel in Southeast 
Asia at the time.

1986
Miramar Express was launched.

1988
The Group ventured into the 
property market with the 
opening of Miramar Shopping 
Centre and Miramar Tower 
which offer retail shopping and 
prime office space that remain 
a key revenue driver.



2013
Miramar Group launched its 
second Design HotelsTM member 
property, Mira Moon in  
Causeway Bay in November.  
A fun and casual Korean 
restaurant, School Food,  
made its debut in August and 
a third outlet of the popular 
Tsui Hang Village Cantonese 
restaurant chain was opened in 
Causeway Bay in May.

2014  
Mr. Lee Ka Shing was re-
designated as the Chairman 
and Chief Executive Officer 
of  Miramar Group. With his 
leadership, he has been 
overseeing  corporate  policy 
formulation and schematization 
to enhance its competitiveness in 
 the industry.

Our flagship hotel, The Mira 
Hong Kong, celebrated  its 5th 
anniversary whilst our dining 
brand with  the longest history, 
 Tsui Hang Village marked  its 40th 

2015
The group’s fun, casual 
Korean restaurant chain 
School Food continued 
to go from strength to 
strength. During the year, 
four additional outlets 
were opened at high-traffic 
destination malls, bringing 
the total to eight restaurants 
and helping satisfy growing 
demand for quality and 
unique Korean cuisine.

MOUNTING  
new heights for 
 five years

anniversary with year-round 
offers. Three School Food 
outlets were introduced at high-
traffic destination malls to tap 
into the widespread popularity 
of Korean food and culture.
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For the year ended 31 December
2015 2014

HK$’million HK$’million

Revenue
 Property rental 834 791
 Hotels and serviced apartments 675 694
 Food and beverage operation 467 389
 Travel operation 1,275 1,232
 Others – 21

Consolidated revenue 3,251 3,127

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company 1,355 1,301

Underlying profit attributable to shareholders of the Company (note) 729 567

Note: The effect of the net increase/decrease in fair value of investment properties (net of deferred tax and non-controlling interests) 
was excluded in the calculation of the underlying profit attributable to shareholders of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December
2015 2014
HK$ HK$

Earnings per share 2.35 2.25

Underlying earnings per share 1.26 0.98

Dividend per share 0.54 0.49

At 31 December
2015 2014

HK$’million HK$’million

Consolidated net assets attributable to shareholders of the Company 14,183 13,155

HK$ HK$

Consolidated net asset value attributable to shareholders of the Company
 per share 24.57 22.79

0.49
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0.41

0.44

0.54

year ended
31 December 2011 2012 2013 20152014

Dividend per share
HK$

13,155

9,907

11,072

12,136

14,183

year ended
31 December 2011 2012 2013 20152014

Consolidated net assets 
attributable to shareholders 
of the Company
HK$’million

22.79

17.16

19.18

21.02

24.57

year ended
31 December 2011 2012 2013 20152014

HK$

Consolidated net assets value 
attributable to shareholders of 
the Company per share
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Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board of the Miramar Group, I am pleased to present my report on the 
operations of the Group, together with the financial statements for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2015.

Revenue, Profit Attributable to Shareholders and Basic Underlying Earnings 
per Share
The Group’s revenue posted steady growth, rising 4% to approximately 
HK$3,251,000,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 (the “Reporting 
Period”) compared to the financial year ended 31 December 2014 (the “Last 
Corresponding Period”) (2014: HK$3,127,000,000). Profit attributable to shareholders 
increased by 4% year-on-year to approximately HK$1,355,000,000 (2014: 
HK$1,301,000,000). Excluding the net increase in the fair value of the Group’s 
investment properties, underlying profit attributable to shareholders grew by 29% 
year-on-year to approximately HK$729,000,000 (2014: HK$567,000,000). Basic 
underlying earnings per share rose by 29% year-on-year to HK$1.26 (2014: HK$0.98).

Final Dividend
The Directors are pleased to recommend a final dividend of 34 Hong Kong cents per 
share payable to shareholders whose names are on the Register of Members as at 21 
June 2016. Including the interim dividend of 20 Hong Kong cents per share paid on 20 
October 2015, the total dividend payout for the whole year shall be 54 Hong Kong cents 
per share.

Bonus Warrants Issue
The Group issued Bonus Warrants on the basis of one Warrant for every five Shares held 
on the record date (i.e. 30 June 2015). Each Warrant entitled the holder to subscribe 
in cash for one Share at the initial subscription price of HK$13.50 per Share (subject 
to adjustments). The Warrants are exercisable at any time during a period of thirty 
months commencing from 20 July 2015 to 19 January 2018. The Warrant commenced 
trading on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 21 July 2015.
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Visionary leaders
MOTIVATE staff
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The Group responded by seizing 
market opportunities, reacting quickly 
to changing customer needs and 
business conditions, and strengthening 
cost and risk management. These 
initiatives enabled the Group to deliver 
growth in its core businesses. 

Business Overview
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During 2015, global economic conditions continued to be challenging and mixed and the Group was not 
immune to these pressures. In the United States, the Federal Reserve Board raised the US dollar interest 
rate for the first time in a decade. Here in Hong Kong, total visitor arrivals declined 2.5% with Mainland 
arrivals falling 3%. The impact on Hong Kong of slower economic growth in Mainland China became more 
tangible during the second half of the year.

However, we have long thrived by closely observing and anticipating changing market conditions. The Group 
responded by seizing market opportunities, reacting quickly to changing customer needs and business 
conditions, and strengthening cost and risk management. These initiatives enabled the Group to deliver 
growth in its core businesses. The financial results for 2015 marked the fifth consecutive year of growth in 
our underlying profit attributable to shareholders.



MAGNETIZING
ambience creates
an urban sanctuary 



Hotels and Serviced 
Apartments Business

2015 was the most challenging year for the Hong 
Kong hotel industry in recent years, bearing the 
brunt of a strong Hong Kong dollar that is pegged 
to the United States dollar, and experienced a 3.9% 

drop in overnight visitor arrivals. In this context, EBITDA (earnings 
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization) amounted to 
approximately HK$239 million, representing a decline of 2% year-
on-year.
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Our hotels executed 
strategies aimed at 
stimulating revenue 
and containing costs 
whilst delivering 
quality services 
and value-added 
offerings.

The Mira Hong Kong and its boutique sister Mira Moon executed a 
number of strategies aimed at stimulating revenue and containing 
costs whilst delivering quality services and value-added offerings. 
Key initiatives included continuing to adopt flexible marketing and 
sales strategies; working closer with our overseas partner networks 
to broaden and deepen customer reach; improving sales channel 
efficiency; continuing to improve our service quality to satisfy the 
needs of our MICE customers and offering tailor-made packages for 
banqueting and company events.

The Mira Hotel Collection won numerous awards during the year, 
including The Mira Hong Kong’s recognition as the Best Luxury Hotel 
Spa in the 2015 World Luxury Spa Awards. Mira Moon was honored 
with several accolades – Best Boutique Hotel Asia Pacific, TTG 
Awards 2015 and Asia’s Best City Boutique Hotel – World Boutique 
Hotel Awards 2015.
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MELTING the heart  
of the shoppers



Property Rental Business

The Group’s Property Rental business 

experienced healthy stable growth in 2015. 
Rental income grew 5% to HK$834 million, 
and EBITDA climbed 7% year-on-year to 

HK$724 million.

The Group’s portfolio consists of some 1,000,000 square feet 
of shopping malls and an office tower strategically located 
in the heart of Tsim Sha Tsui. Our investments in these 
properties enhanced their appeal to tenants and shoppers.
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Our strategy to 
appeal to targeted 
market segments 
was supported by 
carefully managing 
tenant mix and 
promotion events 
throughout the year.

Our strategy to appeal to targeted market segments was 
supported by carefully managing tenant mix and promotion 
events throughout the year. This was well received with an 
increase in footfall into our malls and in total tenant sales 
despite an overall decline in retail spending in Hong Kong.

The year saw the completion of a number of aspects of the 
multi-year asset enhancement program. Most notably, 
the main atrium area at the Miramar Shopping Centre 
was completed during the first quarter of the year. This 
was followed by a newly created street corner shop at the 
intersection of Nathan and Kimberley Roads, together with a 
totally new Kimberley Road facade. International brand Furla 
established its presence by occupying the new corner location. 
The internal footfall circulation within Mira Mall was also 
improved, enhancing the overall sophistication and ambience 
of the mall.

We launched FoodLoft in the Miramar Shopping Centre in 
January 2015. Wakayama Japanese Restaurant, King Ludwig 
Beerhall and The Chop House have established a presence 
in our Miramar Shopping Centre, which is now home to more 
than 30 stylish restaurants. Our malls currently host seven 
Michelin starred and recommended restaurants, including one 
two-star, one one-star and three recommended restaurants in 
FoodLoft and two recommended restaurants in Mira Mall.
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MEMORIZING   
precious moments 



Food and Beverage Business

Our Food and Beverage businesses posted healthy 
growth. Revenue grew 20% to HK$467 million compared 
to 2014 and EBITDA soared 183% year-on-year to HK$45 
million.

During the year, we saw a shift in dining trends and responded quickly 
to these changing needs. We listened to customer preferences, and 
responded by introducing new menu items and seasonal offerings that 
excited the palates of our diners. We offered tailor-made and diversified 
banqueting menus to meet varying customer needs. As a result, our 
banqueting segment saw an increase in revenue in 2015.
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We partnered with banks and 
credit card companies to offer 
promotional programs to reach 
wider spectrum of customer.

A new Tsui Hang Plus loyalty program was launched in August 2015, designed to build and strengthen 
customer loyalty and engagement with diners patronizing our Tsui Hang Village Cantonese and Yun Yan 
Sichuan restaurants. Meanwhile, the School Food chain continued to expand with the addition of four new 
outlets in Mongkok, Whampoa, Tai Koo and Tuen Mun. During the Reporting Period, we partnered with banks 
and credit card companies to offer promotional programs to reach wider spectrum of customer.

Yun Yan was again honored by Michelin Guide, as a Michelin Recommended Bib Gourmand Restaurant for the 
third time in 2015.
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Delivering MARVELLOUS 
 experiences and  
customized excitement 



Travel Business

 During the Reporting Period, outbound traffic 
continued to increase, particularly in the long 
haul sector. Overall revenue increased 4% to 
HK$1,275,000,000, while EBITDA enjoyed a 

39% growth to HK$74 million.



Chairman and CEO’s Statement24
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The Group's travel 
business will 
continue to invest 
and develop its 
online booking 
capabilities to 
expand and deepen 
customer reach.

Miramar Travel sponsored the popular “Empress of China” 
television drama series in April 2015 that increased the brand 
awareness of Miramar Travel, and subsequently the number 
of people signing up for tours. The Group’s travel business will 
continue to invest and develop its online booking capabilities to 
expand and deepen customer reach.



Business Outlook
Looking forward, the business environment is likely to be more difficult. The year 
started with increased uncertainty in the direction of US dollar interest rates, 
soft commodity prices, and volatility in global financial markets. Here in Hong 
Kong, retail spending and visitor arrivals are expected to continue to be soft 
whilst property and rental prices will be under pressure.

These impact on our businesses to varying degrees. I am confident of the 
Group’s ability to navigate through this challenging environment. We have an 
experienced and adaptable management team with proven ability to anticipate 
and respond to market forces. Our core businesses enjoy stable income 
streams, and complemented by a strong balance sheet with low gearing and 
ample liquidity.

During 2016, we will execute strategies that protect and facilitate business 
growth, deploy our resources efficiently and mitigate risks; and continue to 
improve on our core properties to further enhance their attractiveness as a 
destination. In addition, we will seek and seize investment opportunities that 
arise.

Acknowledgement
I would like to express my gratitude to fellow directors for their insight and 
guidance and to our management team and staff for the commitment and 
dedication they have shown, as the Group continues to navigate forward.

Lee Ka Shing
Chairman and CEO

Hong Kong, 17 March 2016
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MULTIPLE honors 
demonstrate 
leadership position
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MIRAMAR GROUP
• Caring Company 2014-2015,  

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

• Gold, Diversified Business, Traditional 
Annual Report, International ARC 
Awards 2015, MerComm, Inc.

• Best of Category Award for Traditional 
Annual Report-Hong Kong:  
Standard Treatment, International ARC 
Awards 2015, MerComm, Inc.

• Bronze, Diversified Business, 
Photography, International ARC Awards 
2015

• Manpower Developer Award Scheme 
2015-2017, Employees Retraining Board  

HOTELS AND SERVICED APARTMENTS
Mira Moon
• Best Boutique Hotel Asia Pacific,  

TTG Travel Awards 2015

• 2015 Asia’s Best City Boutique Hotel, 
World Boutique Hotel Awards

• 2015 Best Hotel Interior Hong Kong, 
Asia Pacific Hotel Awards

• 2015 Certificate of Excellence,  
Trip Advisor

The Mira Hong Kong
• Best Luxury Hotel Spa, World Luxury 

Spa Awards 2015

• Best Business Hotel in Hong Kong,  
 TTG China Travel Awards 2015

• 2015 Certificate of Excellence,  
Trip Advisor

• Bronze Trophy, Best Event Production, 
The Marketing Events Awards 2014, 
Marketing

Cuisine Cuisine (The Mira Hong Kong)
• Recommended Restaurant,  

 Michelin Guide Hong Kong  
& Macau 2015

WHISK (The Mira Hong Kong)
• Recommended Restaurant,  

Michelin Guide Hong Kong  
& Macau 2015

PROPERTY RENTAL
Miramar Shopping Centre and 
 Miramar Tower
• Green Management Award 

(Corporation)-Service Provider-Silver, 
Hong Kong Green Awards 2015,  
 Green Council

• Excellence in Facility Management 
Award (Retail) 2015, The Hong Kong 
Institute of Facility Management

• My Favorite Shopping Mall Events,  
 My Favorite Shopping Mall Awards 
2015-2016, Hong Kong Economic 
Times

• 2nd Runner Up, Highest Percentage 
Saver Award (Property Management), 
Power Smart Energy Saving Contest 
2015

FOOD AND BEVERAGE
Tsui Hang Village (Central)
• Silver Award-Chicken Pot Category,  

 Best of the Best Culinary Awards 2015,  
Hong Kong Tourism Board

• Silver Award-Minced Meat Dishes 
Category,  
Best of the Best Culinary Awards 2015,  
Hong Kong Tourism Board

Tsui Hang Village (Tsim Sha Tsui)
• Recommended Restaurant,  

Michelin Guide Hong Kong  
& Macau 2015

Yun Yan
• Bib Gourmand Recommended 

Restaurant, Michelin Guide Hong Kong 
& Macau 2015

TRAVEL
Miramar Travel
• Caring Company 2014-2015,  

The Hong Kong Council of  
Social Service

• Partner Employer Award 2014-2015, 
The Hong Kong General Chamber of 
Small and Medium Business

• 2015 Best of the Best  
Travel Agency Award,  
Capital Magazine

Award Recognition
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The Group continued its commitment as a responsible corporate citizen by 
making inroads in environment protection, sustainable development and 
caring for the community. It did this by strategically partnering with and 
deepening relationships with key stakeholders: staff, industry participants 
in which its businesses operate, and the community at large. We led by our 
actions, promoting, demonstrating and implementing social responsibility 
programs focusing on sustainability, the environment and society.

Minimizing Waste
We sought to minimize waste and focus on achieving sustainability across 
all our business operations. For example, our hotels have implemented the 
stringent Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point (“HACCP”) analysis and 
monitoring system that ensures food safety and minimizes waste due to 
spoilage. We have launched a program whereby surplus food is donated to 
non-profitable organizations, namely the Food link Foundation Limited and 
Food Angel. 2015 marked the third year of our partnership with these two 
organizations. Taking this objective further, we launched the “Food Angel 
Meal Boxes Preparation Volunteer” program in December 2015.

Factoring Sustainability into Business Practices
The same eco-friendly philosophy applies throughout the rest of our 
organization. Suppliers embracing and executing sustainable program 
and protection of environment are given preference in our offices, malls 
and rental properties. Around 60% of printers in our corporate office use 
recycled environmental-friendly SoySeal ink that contains soybean oil and 
soy protein. In addition, products ranging from paper goods, aluminium 
cans, plastic bottles and used cooking oil to computers and other 
electrical appliances are segregated for recycling in partnership with local 
communities.

The used cooking oil in our restaurants and outlets is handled by a 
carefully selected, experienced contractor with international Sustainability 
and Carbon Certification, underlining our commitment to promoting a 
sustainable environment.

Promoting Environmental 
Protection
Our e f fo r ts  in  energy sav ings were 
recognized in the past year with the 2nd 
runner-up placing in the Highest Percentage 
Saver Award (Property Management) 
presented by Friends of the Earth. Our 
chillers saved a total of 7,700,000 kWh in 
2015 compared to the commencement 
of the project following investment in new 
energy-saving chiller plants.

In March, the Group and its business units 
switched off or dimmed non-essential lights 
as part of WWF’s Earth Hour 2015. We also 
encouraged our shopping mall and office 
tower tenants to join the Carbon Audit Fund 
organized by the Hong Kong Productivity 
Council.

Environmentally friendly transportation is a 
current focus. Apart from having a vertical 
green wall at the hotel, Mira Moon recently 
introduced the award-winning electric 
Tesla Model S, enabling guests to travel 
anywhere in Hong Kong in an eco-friendly 
limousine with zero emissions. We also 
worked with the Hong Kong Federation 
of Women’s Centre on an Environmentally 
Friendly BeesWax Lip Balm Workshop 
and a Recycled Glass Bottle Painting 
Workshop, further underlining our multi-
level commitment to a sustainability ethos.

We promote environmental protection 
and care for society
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MOBILIZING stakeholders  
to deliver environmentally 

friendly strategies
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Caring for Society
We believe in giving back to the communities in which we operate. 
The Group actively pursues long-term partnerships with community 
organizations and encourages staff to participate in community services 
through corporate and voluntary charity activities. We have a long-standing 
partnership with the Chi Heng Foundation, collaborating with it on a 
number of campaigns and initiatives. In particular, Mira Mall recently joined 
forces with the Chi Heng Foundation on a “Color Your Heart” eco-friendly 
shopping bag redemption and “bag for better 2015” charity exhibition. 
Customers were encouraged to create their own shopping bags while 
helping families impacted by AIDS in Mainland China. Celebrities such as 
Cathy Lee, Aarif Lee, Gigi Lai and Barney Cheng contributed designs to the 
exhibition, which donated all proceeds to the Chi Heng Foundation.

We have also been a long-term supporter of the Heep Hong Society, in 
particular its youth development program. Past year saw chefs from The 
Mira Hong Kong produce gastronomic delights at The Great Chefs of Hong 
Kong event to raise funds for the Society.

The Group also offers hotel visits to primary school students to nurture their 
interest in the hospitality industry. In 2015, pupils from the Sheng Kung Hui 
Holy Carpenter Primary School visited The Mira Hong Kong as a reward for 
their outstanding performance in the mid-term exams.

Our staff is equally committed to community service, generously giving 
their time and effort to help those less fortunate. A Miramar Volunteer Team 
spent a fun afternoon with more than 80 senior citizens at the Sheng Kung 
Hui District Elderly Community Centre Visit before the Mid-Autumn Festival. 
During the reporting period, our staff also took part in Red Cross Blood 
Donation Day, ORBIS World Sight Day and The Community Chest Dress 
Casual Day, making substantial voluntary donations.

We believe a high quality of services and products begins with a high 
standard of health and safety. Significant efforts were made in organizing 
various kinds of training initiatives in 2015 aimed at establishing a safe 
working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards. 
We also arranged numerous morale-building events and a variety of 
recreational activities.

Art Appreciation
We strive to cherish and support art and 
culture initiatives. In July 2015, Assaggio 
Trattoria Italiana’s Head Chef Francesco 
Gava and Italian Artist Francesco Lietti 
joined hands to create an extraordinary 
journey of sensations and further promote 
art appreciation to the wider community. 
Diners at the outlet in Wanchai savored 
an authentic three-course, art-inspired 
degustation menu, along with a painting 
exhibit ion and an Art Jamming Party 
designed to incite artistic senses.

Social Recognition
The Group has been recognized for its 
contributions and efforts in this area, having 
earned a 5 Years Plus Caring Company 
award from The Hong Kong Council of 
Social Services through its sustained 
commitment to a wide array of community 
services.
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Directors

Mr LEE Ka Shing

Aged 44. Mr Lee was appointed director of the Company in 2004 and has been actively 
involved in formulating the Group’s corporate development strategies and directions. 
On 1 August 2006, he was appointed as Managing Director of the Company, with the 
title changed to Chief Executive Officer on 7 June 2012. On 12 June 2014, Mr Lee was 
re-designated as the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and was also appointed 
as a member of the Remuneration Committee and the chairman of the Nomination 
Committee of the Company. He has been in charge of corporate policy formulation and 
schematization, as well as promoting the Group’s business development and enhancing 
its competitiveness and status in the industry. He was educated in Canada. He is the 
Vice Chairman of Henderson Land Development Company Limited (“Henderson Land”), 
the Chairman and Managing Director of Henderson Investment Limited (“Henderson 
Investment”) (re-designated on 1 July 2015), a non-executive director of The Hong Kong 
and China Gas Company Limited, all of which are listed companies. He is also a Vice 
Chairman of Henderson Development Limited (“Henderson Development”). Mr Lee is a 
Committee Member of the 12th Beijing Committee, and previously a Committee Member of 
the 10th Guangxi Zhuangzu Zizhiqu Committee and of the 10th Foshan Committee, of the 
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, PRC. He is a member of The Court of 
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Henderson Land and Henderson Development have 
discloseable interests in the shares and warrants of the Company under the provisions of 
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as at 31 December 2015. He is also a 
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr Lee is the son of Dr Lee Shau Kee.

Dr David SIN Wai Kin, DSSc (Hon)

Aged 86. Dr Sin was appointed director of the Company in 1974 and has been a Vice 
Chairman of the Company since 1985. He is currently a member of the Audit Committee, 
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. Dr Sin has a 
plenitude of experience in the businesses of jewelry, property development, property rental, 
hotel operation, and banking and finance. He is the Chairman of Myer Jewelry Manufacturer 
Limited. He previously served as a director of New World Development Company Limited 
until 1 March 2012. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Dr The Honourable LEE Shau Kee, GBM, DBA (Hon), DSSc (Hon), LLD (Hon)

Aged 87. Dr Lee was appointed director of the Company in 1993 and has been the 
Chairman of the Company since 8 August 2001. On 12 June 2014, Dr Lee resigned as 
Chairman and member of both of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee 
and was re-designated as non-executive director of the Company. He has been engaged 
in property development in Hong Kong for more than 60 years. He is the founder and the 
Chairman and Managing Director of Henderson Land, the Chairman of The Hong Kong 
and China Gas Company Limited, the Vice Chairman of Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited 
as well as a non-executive director of Hong Kong Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited, all of 
which are listed companies. On 1 July 2015, Dr Lee resigned as Chairman and Managing 
Director of Henderson Investment, a listed company, and remains as an executive director. 
He previously served as an independent non-executive director of The Bank of East Asia, 
Limited, a listed company, until his resignation on 24 April 2013. Dr Lee was awarded 
Grand Bauhinia Medal by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative 
Region in 2007. He is a director of Multiglade Holdings Limited (“Multiglade”), Higgins 
Holdings Limited (“Higgins”), Threadwell Limited (“Threadwell”), Aynbury Investments 
Limited (“Aynbury”), Henderson Land, Henderson Development, Hopkins (Cayman) Limited 
(“Hopkins”), Riddick (Cayman) Limited (“Riddick”) and Rimmer (Cayman) Limited (“Rimmer”) 
which have discloseable interests in the Shares and Warrants of the Company under the 
provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as at 31 December 2015. He 
is the father of Mr Lee Ka Shing.

Dr Patrick FUNG Yuk Bun

Aged 68. Dr Fung was appointed director of the Company in 1985. He obtained his MBA 
degree from University of Toronto in 1973, and was awarded an Honorary Doctor of 
Business Administration by the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2001 and an Honorary 
Doctor of Laws by the University of Toronto in 2005. Dr Fung retired as an independent 
non-executive director of The Link Management Limited, the manager of The Link Real 
Estate Investment Trust, with effect from 1 August 2014. The Link Real Estate Investment 
Trust is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Dr Fung was re-designated from the 
Chairman and Chief Executive to the Chairman of Wing Hang Bank, Limited with effect 
from 18 August 2014.

Dr Fung is a member of the Court of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, a member of 
the Court of the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a member of Board 
of Governors of The Hong Kong Philharmonic Society Limited. He is also a director of 
certain subsidiaries of the Company. 

Mr Dominic CHENG Ka On

Aged 66. Mr Cheng was appointed director of the Company in 1985. He is currently also 
a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr Cheng has extensive practical 
experience in corporate management and is also an executive director of King Fook 
Holdings Limited and the Managing Director of the Onflo International Group of Companies. 
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
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Mr Richard TANG Yat Sun, MBA, BBS, JP

Aged 63. Mr Tang was appointed director of the Company in 1986. He is an MBA graduate 
from the University of Santa Clara, California, U.S.A., and a holder of Bachelor of Science 
degree in Business Administration from Menlo College, California, U.S.A. He is currently 
the Chairman and Managing Director of Richcom Company Limited, Vice Chairman of King 
Fook Holdings Limited, an independent non-executive director of Hang Seng Bank Limited 
and Wheelock and Company Limited and a director of various private business enterprises. 
He is an Advisor of Tang Shiu Kin and Ho Tim Charitable Fund. He is also a director of 
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Dr Colin LAM Ko Yin, FCILT, FHKIoD, DB (Hon)

Aged 64. Dr Lam was appointed director of the Company in 1993. He holds a Bachelor 
of Science (Honours) degree from The University of Hong Kong and has over 42 years’ 
experience in banking and property development. He is the Deputy Chairman of The 
University of Hong Kong Foundation for Educational Development and Research and a 
Director of Fudan University Education Development Foundation. Dr Lam was awarded an 
Honorary University Fellowship by The University of Hong Kong in 2008, and was conferred 
with a degree of Doctor of Business (Honoris Causa) by Macquarie University in 2015. 
He is a Fellow of The Chartered Institute of Logistics and Transport in Hong Kong and a 
Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He is also the Chairman of Hong Kong 
Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited, the Vice Chairman of Henderson Land and Henderson 
Investment as well as a non-executive director of The Hong Kong and China Gas Company 
Limited, all of which are listed companies. Dr Lam is a director of Henderson Development, 
Multiglade, Higgins, Threadwell, Aynbury, Hopkins, Riddick and Rimmer. Multiglade, 
Higgins, Threadwell, Aynbury, Henderson Land, Henderson Development, Hopkins, Riddick 
and Rimmer have discloseable interests in the shares and warrants of the Company under 
the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as at 31 December 2015. 
He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr Eddie LAU Yum Chuen

Aged 69. Mr Lau was appointed director of the Company in 1996. He has over 45 
years’ experience in banking, finance and investment. He is also an executive director 
of Henderson Land as well as a non-executive director of Hong Kong Ferry (Holdings) 
Company Limited, both of which are listed companies. Henderson Land has discloseable 
interests in the shares and warrants of the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance as at 31 December 2015. He is also a director of certain 
subsidiaries of the Company.
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Mr Norman HO Hau Chong, BA, ACA, FCPA

Aged 60. Mr Ho was appointed director of the Company in 1998. He is a member of 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, and a Fellow of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is an executive director of Honorway 
Investments Limited and Tak Hung (Holding) Company Limited and has over 34 years’ 
experience in management and property development. He is also a director of Vision 
Values Holdings Limited, as well as an independent non-executive director of Hong Kong 
Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited, Lee Hing Development Limited and Shun Tak Holdings 
Limited. He previously served as an independent non-executive director of Starlight 
International Holdings Limited until his retirement on 26 August 2013. He is also a director 
of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr Howard YEUNG Ping Leung

Aged 59. Mr Yeung was appointed director of the Company in 2000 and was re-designated 
as independent non-executive director of the Company in December 2012. He has 
extensive experience in the businesses of property development, hotel operation and 
jewelry. He is also a director and the Chairman of King Fook Holdings Limited and an 
independent non-executive director of New World Development Company Limited.

Mr Thomas LIANG Cheung Biu, BA, MBA

Aged 69. Mr Liang was appointed director of the Company in 2004 and was re-designated 
as independent non-executive director of the Company in December 2012. He holds a 
Bachelor degree in Economics from the University of California, Berkeley and a Master 
degree in Business Administration from Columbia University. Mr Liang has extensive 
experience in financial management, corporate finance, banking, real estate development 
and equity investment. Mr Liang is a member of the Council of The Chinese University of 
Hong Kong with effect from 15 April 2015 and is a member of the Board of Governors, 
Hang Seng Management College with effect from 16 November 2015. He is also the Group 
Chief Executive of Wideland Investors Limited and an independent non-executive director 
of New World Development Company Limited.

Mr WU King Cheong, BBS, JP

Aged 65. Mr Wu was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the Company 
in 2005. He is the Life Honorary Chairman of the Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, 
the Honorary Permanent President of the Chinese Gold & Silver Exchange Society and 
the Permanent Honorary President of the Hong Kong Securities Association Ltd. He is an 
executive director of Lee Cheong Gold Dealers Limited. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Yau Lee Holdings Limited, Henderson Land, Henderson Investment  
and Hong Kong Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited, all of which are listed companies. 
Henderson Land has discloseable interests in the shares and warrants of the Company 
under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance as at 31 December 
2015.
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Mr Alexander AU Siu Kee, OBE, ACA, FCCA, FCPA, AAIA, FCIB, FHKIB

Aged 69. Mr Au was appointed as an independent non-executive director on 17 January 
2005 and re-designated as a non-executive director of the Company on 7 November 
2005. Mr Au is a well-known banker in Hong Kong and has more than 32 years’ 
experience in local and international banking business, having been the Chief Executive 
of Hang Seng Bank Limited (from October 1993 to March 1998) and of Oversea-Chinese 
Banking Corporation Limited in Singapore (from September 1998 to April 2002). He is 
currently an independent non-executive director of The Wharf (Holdings) Limited, and of 
Henderson Investment since 1 July 2015, and a non-executive director of Hong Kong Ferry 
(Holdings) Company Limited, all of which are listed companies. He is the chairman and 
non-executive director of Henderson Sunlight Asset Management Limited, the manager 
of the publicly-listed Sunlight Real Estate Investment Trust. Mr Au previously served as 
an independent non-executive director of Henderson Land, a listed company, until his 
retirement on 2 June 2015. An accountant by training, Mr Au is a Chartered Accountant as 
well as a Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Dr Timpson CHUNG Shui Ming, GBS, JP, DSSc (Hon)

Aged 64. Dr Chung was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the 
Company in 2006. Dr Chung obtained a bachelor’s degree in science from the University of 
Hong Kong and a master’s degree in business administration from the Chinese University 
of Hong Kong, and was awarded a Doctor of Social Sciences honoris causa by the City 
University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. He is a member of the National Committee of the 10th, 11th and 12th 
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference. Currently, Dr Chung is an independent 
non-executive director of China Unicom (Hong Kong) Limited, Glorious Sun Enterprises 
Limited, China Overseas Grand Oceans Group Limited, China Everbright Limited, China 
Construction Bank Corporation, Henderson Land, Jinmao Investments and Jinmao (China) 
Investments Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited. He is also an independent director of China State Construction Engineering 
Corporation Limited, listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Formerly, Dr Chung was the 
Chairman of the Council of the City University of Hong Kong, the Chairman of the Hong 
Kong Housing Society and the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative 
Region Government Land Fund Trust. He was previously an independent director of China 
Everbright Bank Company Limited (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). He previously 
served as an independent non-executive director of Nine Dragons Paper (Holdings) Limited, 
a listed company, until his retirement on 3 March 2013. Henderson Land has discloseable 
interests in the shares and warrants of the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance as at 31 December 2015.
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Senior Management

Mr Allen LIM Kean Kee

Aged 55. Mr Lim joined the Group in May 2012 as Chief Financial Officer and appointed 
as the Joint Company Secretary in August 2012. He holds a Master of Business 
Administration from the Brunel University/Henley Management College, U.K. and is a Fellow 
of The Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, U.K. Mr Lim has over 30 years 
of experience working closely with senior business leaders to achieve strategic, business 
and financial objectives in the Asia Pacific region; transforming finance to value creation 
function; leading mergers and acquisitions, due diligence and investment projects; and 
enhancing operational and process efficiency. Mr Lim has held senior finance leadership 
roles in global financial institutions including HSBC Bank, American Express, National 
Australia Bank, Guardian Royal Exchange Assurance and he spent his earlier years as a 
management consultant. 

Mrs Catalina LAW NG Chai Siu

Aged 57. Mrs Law joined the Group in September 2014 as Director of Group Human 
Resources & Administration. She holds a Master of Arts Degree in Human Resources 
Management from Macquarie University in Australia, and a professional member of Hong 
Kong Institute of Human Resource Management. Mrs Law has more than 25 years of 
Human Resources and Administration leadership experience with various multinational 
organizations in Information Technology, Catering and Hospitality sectors. In these roles, 
she led teams in formulating and executing short- and long-term strategies on Human 
Resources and Administration Management with focus on employee career achievement 
and development programs, employee relations and compensation & benefits programs, 
etc. Prior to joining the Group, she was the Regional Director of Human Resources and 
Administration of GXS International Inc. in Asia Pacific region.

Mr Clement WU Kim Man

Aged 47. Mr Wu joined the Group in November 2012 as Business Unit Head of Asset 
Management. He is a Registered Professional Surveyor and Authorized Person in Hong 
Kong, and holds a Master of Business Administration (Financial Services) from The Hong 
Kong Polytechnic University. He is also a Member of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators 
in U.K., a Panel Member of Appeal Tribunal (Buildings) in Hong Kong and a Registered 
BEAM Professional of Hong Kong Green Building Council. Mr Wu has over 20 years of 
experience in the property and construction industry with expertise in asset enhancement 
and management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Wu was the General Manager (Project and 

Planning Department) of The Link Management Limited.
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Mr Kenneth SORENSEN

Aged 50. Mr Sorensen joined the Group in November 2012 as Business Unit Head of 
Hotels and Serviced Apartments. A Danish national and holding a Degree in Hospitality 
Management from EHL in Lausanne, Mr Sorensen is a well-traveled multi-cultural seasoned 
executive with more than 25 years of sales, marketing, business development, operations, 
asset management and general management experiences, the last 15 years in the Asia 
Pacific region. He has held key leadership roles in the main disciplines of the hospitality 
industry. Prior to joining the Group, he was at the helm of Onyx Hospitality Group – North 
Asia.

Ms Elizabeth TING Hwee Yuan

Aged 51. Having joined the Group in 2011, Ms Ting is the Acting Head of Food & 
Beverage. Ms Ting has 27 years of experience in hotel & chain restaurant operations. 
Prior to joining the Group, she held senior management positions in various international 
companies in Singapore, Malaysia, Taiwan, China and France; spanning from quick service 
restaurants, cafe chain, theme restaurants to food production factory. Her primary role with 
the Group is to expand and manage the growth of our F&B operations in Hong Kong and 
within Asia.

Mr Anthony HO Wai Cheong

Aged 46. Mr Ho joined the Group in December 2012 as Director of Group Information 
Technology. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Computer Engineering and a Master of 
Business Administration from The University of Hong Kong. Mr Ho has more than 20 
years of experience in the information technology industry. He has held various leadership 
positions in global & local companies in the field and has a great depth of technical and 
management knowledge especially in project management and management of change. He 
is also well experienced in IT strategies and operations, and partnering with business units 
to provide online customer service and support. Prior to joining the Group, Mr Ho was the 
Chief Information Officer of Tradelink Electronic Commerce Limited.

Mr Mike CHAN Tin Fan

Aged 51. Mr Chan joined the Group in April 2009 as Director of Group Procurement. 
He holds a Bachelor of Arts (Hons) Degree in Hospitality and Tourism Management from 
University of Birmingham; a Diploma in Marketing and International Business, and a 
Diploma in Company Management, both from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr 
Chan has extensive experience in the field, having worked at various reputable companies 
in Asia Pacific, China and Hong Kong, including but not limited to Shangri-la Hotel Group, 
Ritz Carlton Hotel Group, Harbour Plaza Hotel Group, Walt Disney and Hong Kong Jockey 
Club.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance. The Company has 
complied with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 of the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) 
for the year ended 31 December 2015, with the exception of one deviation that roles of the chairman and the 
chief executive officer of the Company have not been segregated as required by code provision A.2.1 of the 
Code. Mr Lee Ka Shing was re-designated as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer as from 12 June 2014. Mr 
Lee has been the Chief Executive Officer since 1 August 2006 with in-depth experience and knowledge of the 
Group and its businesses. The Board is of the view that his appointment into the dual roles as Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer is in the best interest of the Group ensuring continuity of leadership and efficiency in 
formulation and execution of corporate strategies, and that there is adequate balance of power and authority 
in place.

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) currently comprises fourteen members, of whom five are executive 
directors, four non-executive directors and five independent non-executive directors, as details below:

Executive Directors

Mr LEE Ka Shing
Mr Richard TANG Yat Sun
Dr Colin LAM Ko Yin
Mr Eddie LAU Yum Chuen
Mr Norman HO Hau Chong

Non-Executive Directors

Dr LEE Shau Kee
Dr Patrick FUNG Yuk Bun
Mr Dominic CHENG Ka On
Mr Alexander AU Siu Kee

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr David SIN Wai Kin
Mr WU King Cheong
Dr Timpson CHUNG Shui Ming
Mr Howard YEUNG Ping Leung
Mr Thomas LIANG Cheung Biu

The biographical details of the directors and relationship among them are shown under the section 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this Annual Report. Save as disclosed therein, 
there is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship among the directors.

All the non-executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the Company have been 
appointed for a term of not more than three years. The terms of Mr Dominic Cheng Ka On, Mr Wu King 
Cheong, Mr Alexander Au Siu Kee and Dr Lee Shau Kee are up to 31 December 2016; Dr David Sin Wai 
Kin, Mr Thomas Liang Cheung Biu, Dr Timpson Chung Shui Ming and Mr Howard Yeung Ping Leung up to 
31 December 2017; Dr Patrick Fung Yuk Bun up to 31 December 2018; and all are subject to retirement by 
rotation and re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company.
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The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the 
Board. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the quality 
of its performance. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered 
against the selection criteria. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, which 
would include but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, 
skills, knowledge and length of service. Appointments will be first considered by the Nomination Committee 
and recommendation of the Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision. The ultimate 
decision will be based on merit and contribution.

The Board has received from each of the independent non-executive directors an annual confirmation of 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers that all the independent non-
executive directors are independent. Notwithstanding (i) Mr Howard Yeung Ping Leung and Mr Thomas Liang 
Cheung Biu have been non-executive directors of the Company prior to their re-designation as independent 
non-executive directors on 6 December 2012; (ii) Mr Howard Yeung Ping Leung is indirectly interested in a 
subsidiary of the Company; and (iii) Mr Howard Yeung Ping Leung has minority interests in the business of the 
Company, the Board is of the view that they are independent since they did not take part in the day-to-day 
management or perform any management role or executive function in the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
before the re-designation. The Board is also of the view that Mr Howard Yeung Ping Leung is independent 
because (a) Mr Yeung is only indirectly interested in an insignificant minority stake in a subsidiary of the 
Company and (b) Mr Yeung does not have material interest in any principal business activity of the Company 
or being involved in any material business dealings with the Company that would fall within the ambit of Rule 
3.13(4) of the Listing Rules.

In accordance with Articles 77, 78 and 79 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Dr Lee Shau Kee, Dr 
David Sin Wai Kin, Dr Patrick Fung Yuk Bun, Mr Dominic Cheng Ka On and Mr Eddie Lau Yum Chuen shall 
retire by rotation at the forthcoming 2016 Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, have offered themselves 
for re-election. The Nomination Committee has also recommended to the Board that they are eligible for re-
election.

Dr David Sin Wai Kin has served as independent non-executive director for more than nine years. As an 
independent non-executive director with extensive experience and knowledge, Dr Sin has been providing 
objective and independent views to the Company over the years, and he remains committed to his 
independent role. The Board concurs with the view of the Nomination Committee that the long service of 
Dr Sin would not affect his exercise of independent judgement and is satisfied that Dr Sin has the required 
character, integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of an independent non-executive director, and 
the Board thus recommends Dr Sin for re-election at the 2016 Annual General Meeting.
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The Board makes broad policy decisions and has delegated the responsibility to the Chief Executive Officer for 
corporate policy formulation and schematization, as well as promoting the Group’s business development and 
enhancing its competitiveness and status in the industry. The key function of the Chairman is the management 
of the Board. The day-to-day management and operation of the Company’s businesses are delegated to the 
senior management. The Board has the following matters specifically reserved for its approval:

1. Major acquisitions and disposals, and joint ventures;

2. Major project investments, and major capital expenditure programmes;

3. Annual budgets, and business and financial plans;

4. Financial statements, dividend distributions, capital structure, treasury policy, and accounting policy;

5. Remuneration policy and terms of employment of the senior executive team; and

6. Public announcements as required under the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, four board meetings were held to review and approve financial 
results, evaluate operating performance and direct business development. The Board has a total of four board 
committees to assist it in carrying out its responsibilities; and they are the General Purpose Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee, all of which have defined 
terms of reference setting out their respective duties, powers and functions.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board has undertaken the following corporate governance functions:

(a) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional development of directors and senior 
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to employees and 
directors; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

General Purpose Committee

The General Purpose Committee comprises five members, all of them are executive directors, namely Mr Lee 
Ka Shing, Mr Richard Tang Yat Sun, Dr Colin Lam Ko Yin, Mr Eddie Lau Yum Chuen and Mr Norman Ho Hau 
Chong. The General Purpose Committee operates with delegated authority from the Board.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises five members, three of them are independent non-executive 
directors, namely Dr David Sin Wai Kin, Mr Wu King Cheong and Dr Timpson Chung Shui Ming, and two are 
executive directors, namely Mr Lee Ka Shing and Mr Richard Tang Yat Sun. Dr Timpson Chung Shui Ming is 
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year to review the structure of remunerations for 
directors and senior management with reference to the skill, knowledge, experience, responsibilities, individual 
performance and the overall profitability of the Company. The Remuneration Committee regards that the 
remunerations offered to the directors and senior management are appropriate for their duties and in line with 
market practice. No director would be involved in deciding his own remunerations. The Board has delegated 
responsibility to the Remuneration Committee to determine the remuneration packages of individual executive 
directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights, compensation payments and 
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is primarily responsible for review of the financial results of the Group and oversight of 
the Group’s financial controls, internal controls and risk management systems. It comprises five members, 
three of them are independent non-executive directors, namely Dr David Sin Wai Kin, Mr Wu King Cheong and 
Dr Timpson Chung Shui Ming, and two are non-executive directors, namely Dr Patrick Fung Yuk Bun and Mr 
Dominic Cheng Ka On. Dr Timpson Chung Shui Ming is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee met four times during the year ended 31 December 2015. The major work performed by 
the Audit Committee included reviewing the Group’s internal controls, internal audit reports, audit plans, annual 
reports, interim reports, financial statements, connected transactions, approving the remunerations and terms 
of engagement of the external auditors and making recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of 
auditors.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises four members, three of them are independent non-executive directors, 
namely Dr David Sin Wai Kin, Mr Wu King Cheong and Dr Timpson Chung Shui Ming, and an executive 
director, namely Mr Lee Ka Shing. Mr Lee Ka Shing is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee from time to time reviews the composition of the Board with particular regard to 
ensuring that there is an appropriate number of directors on the Board. It will evaluate the balance of skills, 
qualification, knowledge and experience of the candidate to the directorship as may be required by the 
Company from time to time.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year ended 31 December 2015. It has discussed and 
reviewed the composition of the Board; assessed the independence of all independent non-executive 
directors; recommended to the Board for approval the re-election of all the retiring Directors at the Annual 
General Meeting.
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Attendance Record of the Meetings

The number of meetings held by the Board, the Committees and the Company during the year ended 31 
December 2015 and the attendance of directors are set out in the table below:

Meetings attended/held

Directors Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

2015 Annual 
General 
Meeting

Executive Directors
Mr LEE Ka Shing 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr Richard TANG Yat Sun 4/4 N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1
Dr Colin LAM Ko Yin 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr Eddie LAU Yum Chuen 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr Norman HO Hau Chong 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Non-Executive Directors
Dr LEE Shau Kee 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Dr Patrick FUNG Yuk Bun 3/4 3/4 N/A N/A 1/1
Mr Dominic CHENG Ka On 4/4 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1
Mr Alexander AU Siu Kee 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Independent 
Non-Executive Directors
Dr David SIN Wai Kin 4/4 3/4 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr WU King Cheong 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 1/1
Dr Timpson CHUNG Shui Ming 3/4 4/4 1/1 1/1 0/1
Mr Howard YEUNG Ping Leung 3/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr Thomas LIANG Cheung Biu 3/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
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Directors’ Training

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the directors have participated in continuous professional 
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in the following manner:

Directors Type of trainings

Executive Directors
Mr LEE Ka Shing A, B
Mr Richard TANG Yat Sun A, B
Dr Colin LAM Ko Yin A, B
Mr Eddie LAU Yum Chuen A, B
Mr Norman HO Hau Chong A, B

Non-Executive Directors
Dr LEE Shau Kee A, B
Dr Patrick FUNG Yuk Bun A, B
Mr Dominic CHENG Ka On A, B
Mr Alexander AU Siu Kee A, B

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr David SIN Wai Kin B
Mr WU King Cheong A, B
Dr Timpson CHUNG Shui Ming A, B
Mr Howard YEUNG Ping Leung A, B
Mr Thomas LIANG Cheung Biu A, B

A: attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
B: reading materials relevant to the directors’ duties and responsibilities
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Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the fees (before out-of-pocket expenses) paid/payable to the 
Company’s auditors, KPMG, for the provision of audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

Remuneration
HK$’000

Audit services 2,546
Non-audit services:
 Interim review 395
 Other services 251

3,192

Accountability and Audit

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of the annual financial statements which give 
a true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs and of the results and cash flow for the year. The Group’s 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with all relevant statutory requirements and applicable 
accounting standards. The Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting policies are 
selected and applied consistently; and that judgment and estimates made are fair and reasonable; and that 
the accounts are prepared on a going concern basis.

A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities is included in the Independent Auditor’s 
Report on pages 74 to 75 of this Annual Report.

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls of the Company and has reviewed its 
effectiveness. The Board is committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls system to 
safeguard the interests of shareholders and the Company’s assets.

During the year under review, internal audit was undertaken to provide the management with assurance that 
its business operations and management practices complied with international and professional standards. 
With reference to the COSO (The Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission) 
internal control framework, the Company has conducted an assessment of the internal controls system 
against the five elements of COSO, namely control environment, risk assessment, control activities, information 
& communication and monitoring.

The Internal Audit Department of the Company, which reports directly to the Audit Committee and is 
independent of the Company’s daily operations, is responsible for conducting risk-based audits on the 
major operating activities of the Group. Its objective is to ensure that all material controls, including financial, 
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions are in place and functioning effectively.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 
and discussed with the internal auditor and independent auditors matters on auditing, internal control and 
financial report of the Group.
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Model Code for Securities Transaction by Directors

The Company has adopted the “Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers” (the 
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for dealing in securities of the 
Company by the directors. Having made specific enquiries, the Company confirmed that all directors had 
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 
2015.

Communication with Shareholders

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Board has adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy 
reflecting mostly the current practices of the Company for communication with its shareholders. Such policy 
is to promote effective communication with shareholders of the Company and enable them to exercise their 
rights as shareholders in an informed manner and to furnish the investment community with equal and timely 
access to information about the Company. It will be updated in response to any subsequent changes in 
internal structure, regulatory and market developments.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an on-going dialogue with its 
shareholders as follows:

(i) corporate communications such as annual reports, interim reports and circulars are issued in printed form 
and are available on the Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkex.com.hk and the Company’s website at 
www.miramar-group.com;

(ii) periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and published on the respective websites 
of the Stock Exchange and the Company;

(iii) corporate information is made available on the Company’s website and the Articles of Association of the 
Company is made available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company;

(iv) Annual General Meeting (AGM) and Extraordinary General Meeting (EGM) provide a forum for the 
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the Directors and senior management; and

(v) the Company’s Share Registrar serves the shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment, 
change of shareholders’ particulars and related matters.
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Shareholders’ Rights

(a) Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) 

Pursuant to Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the 
“Companies Ordinance”), shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the 
shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings of the Company can make a request to call an 
EGM.

The request:

(i) must state the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the EGM;

(ii) may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the 
EGM;

(iii) may consist of several documents in like form;

(iv) may be sent in hard copy form (to the Company’s registered office, which is situated at 15/F Miramar 
Tower, 132 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company 
Secretary) or in electronic form (via email at IR@miramar-group.com); and

(v) must be authenticated by the person or persons making it.

Pursuant to Section 567 of the Companies Ordinance. Directors must call an EGM within 21 days after 
the date on which they become subject to the requirement and the EGM so called must be held on a 
date not more than 28 days after the date of the notice convening the EGM.

Pursuant to Section 568 of the Companies Ordinance, if the Directors do not do so, the shareholders 
who requested the EGM, or any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all 
of them, may themselves convene an EGM. The EGM must be called for a date not more than 3 months 
after the date on which the Directors become subject to the requirement to call an EGM. The Company 
must reimburse any reasonable expenses incurred by the shareholders requesting the EGM by reason of 
the failure of the Directors duly to call the EGM.

(b) Procedures for putting forward enquires to the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing through the 
Company Secretary whose contact details are as follows:

15/F, Miramar Tower
132 Nathan Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2736 4975
Email: IR@miramar-group.com

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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(c) Procedures for shareholders to request circulation of resolution for annual general meeting 

(“AGM”)

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, shareholder(s) can make a request to circulate a 
notice of a resolution that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at an AGM. The request 
must be made by:

(i) shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders who have a 
right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the request relates; or

(ii) at least 50 shareholders who have a right to vote on the resolution at the AGM to which the request 
relates. 

The request:

(i) may be sent in hard copy form (to the Company’s registered office, which is situated at 15/F, Miramar 
Tower, 132 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the Company 
Secretary) or in electronic form (via email at IR@miramar-group.com);

(ii) must identify the resolution of which notice is to be given;

(iii) must be authenticated by the person or persons making it; and

(iv) must be received by the Company not later than 6 weeks before the AGM to which the request 
relates or if later, the time at which notice is given of that AGM.

Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there are no changes in the Company’s constitutional documents.
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Miramar Group’s core businesses span hotel & serviced apartments, food & beverage, property leasing and 
travel agency. There are several principal risks & uncertainties to our business which may directly or indirectly 
affects the Group’s business, financial conditions, operations, and future prospect of the business. The 
magnitude of impact arising from these risks on the Group depends on severity, duration and locality of the 
event should it occurs. Risk is a function of many dynamic forces and factors at play in the environment the 
Group operates. As such, there are risks that are not significant now but can turn significant, risk we are not 
aware, and/or new risk emerging in the future. We continually monitor, review, evaluate and update these 
risks.

Outlined here are the principal risks that may affect the Group’s businesses, and it is not intended to be 
exhaustive or comprehensive.

1. Economic Downturn: The Group core businesses are susceptible to, amongst others, elements 
that impact consumer and investor confidence, retail spending, property prices, and visitor arrivals. 
A significant portion of the Group’s revenue, operations and core properties are in Hong Kong. In 
this context, the Hong Kong’s government policies, political & social conditions, economic, fiscal and 
monetary policies have a direct or indirect impact of the Group businesses. The Group closely monitors 
the economic environment it operates in, and constantly evaluation and take appropriate actions to 
mitigate these risks and adjusting our strategies, operations and policies where appropriate.

2. Disaster Event: These are events such as natural disaster, terrorist attack, social unrest, or outbreak of 
contagious diseases such as Avian Flu, SARS, Ebola or a major fire in our core properties. Depending 
on the severity, duration and locality, this could severely disrupt the Group’s businesses and operations. 
The Group has policies and processes in place to response to these crises to minimize disruption and 
ensure business continuity, and protect safety of our employees and customers. The Group also has a 
comprehensive insurance coverage for its properties and its business operations and undertakes periodic 
risk assessment of its core properties.

3. Human Resources Costs: The Group core businesses are people intensive service businesses. In 
recent years, Hong Kong has experienced rising people & related benefits cost due to a range of factors 
including the recent introduction of minimum wages. Looming in the background are discussions on 
the introduction of standard working hours. Failure to manage this cost would adversely impact our 
businesses particular in an economic downturn. The Group closely monitors this operating cost and 
factors like supply of skilled labor that impact labor cost; and develops, review and implement suitable 
strategies whilst preserving our service quality.

4. Market Competition: The Group’s core businesses, particularly the food and beverages and travel 
businesses are competitive businesses with relatively lower entry barrier. Increased in competition, 
cyclical supply-demand and shift in customer taste and preferences, particularly in an economic downturn 
environment, could be harmful challenges to these businesses. The Group watches closely and analyzed 
its competitors, the competitive landscape and market information and development. It anticipates and 
takes appropriate actions in response to the changes in its competitive landscape and competitive forces. 
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The directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report together with the audited financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2015.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding, and the principal activities of its principal 
subsidiaries are property rental, hotels and serviced apartments, food and beverage operation and travel 
operation; the particulars of which are set out in note 11 to the financial statements.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the operations of the Company and its 
subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

Financial Statements

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the state of the Company’s and the 
Group’s affairs as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 76 to 145.

An interim dividend of 20 Hong Kong cents per share (2014: 17 Hong Kong cents per share) was paid on 
20 October 2015. The directors now recommend the payment of a final dividend of 34 Hong Kong cents per 
share (2014: 32 Hong Kong cents per share) in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015.

Business Review and Performance

The business review of the Group and the discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 are set out in the sections headed “Chairman and CEO’s Statement”. Description 
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out in the section headed “Principal Risks”.  
Discussion on the Company’s environmental policies is disclosed in the sections headed “Corporate Social 
Responsibility”.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Due to the diversity and nature of the Group’s activities, the aggregate percentage of the Group’s sales and 
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers respectively was less than 30%. 

At 31 December 2015, none of the directors, their close associates or shareholders who, to the knowledge 
of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s number of issued shares, had an interest in any of the 
five largest customers and suppliers. The Directors do not consider any one employee, customer, supplier and 
others to be influential to the Group.

Charitable Donations

Donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to HK$80,982 (2014: 
HK$93,472).
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Investment Properties, Other Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in investment properties, other property, plant and equipment are set out in note 10 to 
the financial statements.

Directors

The directors who held office during the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this report 
were:

Executive Directors

Mr LEE Ka Shing
Mr Richard TANG Yat Sun
Dr Colin LAM Ko Yin
Mr Eddie LAU Yum Chuen
Mr Norman HO Hau Chong

Non-Executive Directors

Dr LEE Shau Kee
Dr Patrick FUNG Yuk Bun
Mr Dominic CHENG Ka On
Mr Alexander AU Siu Kee

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr David SIN Wai Kin
Mr WU King Cheong
Dr Timpson CHUNG Shui Ming
Mr Howard YEUNG Ping Leung
Mr Thomas LIANG Cheung Biu

In accordance with Articles 77, 78 and 79 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Dr Lee Shau Kee,  
Dr David Sin Wai Kin, Dr Patrick Fung Yuk Bun, Mr Dominic Cheng Ka On and Mr Eddie Lau Yum Chuen shall 
retire by rotation at the forthcoming 2016 Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, have offered themselves 
for re-election. The Nomination Committee has also recommended to the Board that they are eligible for 
re-election.

Directors of Subsidiaries

A list of names of all the directors who have served on the boards of the Company’s subsidiaries during the 
year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this report is available on the Company’s website at 
www.miramar-group.com.
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Directors’ Service Contracts

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2016 Annual General Meeting has an unexpired 
service contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, 
other than normal statutory obligations.

Disclosure of Interests

Directors’ interests in shares

At 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the directors and the chief executive of the 
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations 
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) as recorded in the register 
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock 
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers were as follows:

(A) Interests in ordinary shares

Long Positions

Name of Company Name of Director

Personal 
Interests
(shares)

Family 
Interests
(shares)

Corporate 
Interests
(shares)

Other 
Interests
(shares)

Percentage 
of total 
issued 
shares

Miramar Hotel and 
 Investment

Dr LEE Shau Kee – – 267,416,250 
(note 1)

– 46.33%

 Company, Limited Mr LEE Ka Shing – – – 267,416,250 
(note 2)

46.33%

Dr David SIN Wai Kin 4,158,000 – – – 0.72%
Dr Patrick FUNG Yuk Bun – – – 8,426,710 

(note 3)
1.46%

Mr Dominic CHENG Ka On 7,774,640 4,000 – – 1.35%
Mr Richard TANG Yat Sun 125,000 – 11,241,900 

(note 4)
– 1.97%

Mr Thomas LIANG Cheung Biu – 2,218,000 
(note 5)

– – 0.38%

Centralplot Inc. Mr Richard TANG Yat Sun 2,221 – – – 2%
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(B) Interests in warrants (note 6)

Long Positions

Name of Company Name of Director

Personal 
Interests

(units)

Family 
Interests

(units)

Corporate 
Interests

(units)

Other 
Interests

(units)

Percentage 
of total 

number of 
warrants

Miramar Hotel and 
 Investment 
 Company, Limited

Dr LEE Shau Kee – – 52,047,850 
(note 1)

– 45.08%

Mr LEE Ka Shing – – – 52,047,850 
(note 2)

45.08%

Dr David SIN Wai Kin 831,600 – – – 0.72%
Dr Patrick FUNG Yuk Bun – – – 1,685,342 

(note 3)
1.46%

Mr Dominic CHENG Ka On 1,554,928 800 – – 1.35%
Mr Richard TANG Yat Sun 25,000 – 2,248,380 

(note 4)
– 1.97%

Mr Thomas LIANG Cheung Biu – 443,600 – – 0.38%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the directors or the chief executive of the 
Company had held any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during the year ended 31 December 2015 was the Company or any 
subsidiary a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means 
of acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Substantial shareholders and others

The Company has been notified of the following interests in the Company’s issued shares at 31 December 
2015, amounting to 5% or more of the shares in issue:

(A) Interests in ordinary shares

Long Positions

Substantial shareholders

Ordinary
Shares held

(shares)

Percentage 
of total 
issued 
shares

Dr LEE Shau Kee 267,416,250  (note 1) 46.33%
Mr LEE Ka Shing 267,416,250  (note 2) 46.33%
Rimmer (Cayman) Limited (“Rimmer”) 267,416,250  (note 7) 46.33%
Riddick (Cayman) Limited (“Riddick”) 267,416,250  (note 7) 46.33%
Hopkins (Cayman) Limited (“Hopkins”) 267,416,250  (note 7) 46.33%
Henderson Development Limited (“Henderson Development”) 267,416,250  (note 8) 46.33%
Henderson Land Development Company Limited (“Henderson Land”) 267,416,250  (note 8) 46.33%
Aynbury Investments Limited (“Aynbury”) 267,416,250  (note 8) 46.33%
Higgins Holdings Limited (“Higgins”) 100,612,750  (note 8) 17.43%
Multiglade Holdings Limited (“Multiglade”) 86,298,500  (note 8) 14.95%
Threadwell Limited (“Threadwell”) 80,505,000  (note 8) 13.95%
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Persons other than substantial shareholders

Ordinary 
Shares held

(shares)

Percentage 
of total 
issued 
shares

Mr CHONG Wing Cheong 57,594,210 9.98%

(B) Interests in warrants (note 6)

Long Positions

Substantial shareholders

Warrants
held

(units)

Percentage 
of total 

number of 
warrants

Dr LEE Shau Kee 52,047,850 (note 1) 45.08%
Mr LEE Ka Shing 52,047,850 (note 2) 45.08%
Rimmer (Cayman) Limited (“Rimmer”) 52,047,850 (note 7) 45.08%
Riddick (Cayman) Limited (“Riddick”) 52,047,850 (note 7) 45.08%
Hopkins (Cayman) Limited (“Hopkins”) 52,047,850 (note 7) 45.08%
Henderson Development Limited (“Henderson Development”) 52,047,850 (note 8) 45.08%
Henderson Land Development Company Limited (“Henderson Land”) 52,047,850 (note 8) 45.08%
Aynbury Investments Limited (“Aynbury”) 52,047,850 (note 8) 45.08%
Higgins Holdings Limited (“Higgins”) 20,122,550 (note 8) 17.43%
Multiglade Holdings Limited (“Multiglade”) 15,824,300 (note 8) 13.71%
Threadwell Limited (“Threadwell”) 16,101,000 (note 8) 13.95%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of the above shareholders had held any interests 
or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporation as defined in the SFO.

Notes:

(1) Dr Lee Shau Kee beneficially owned all the issued shares in Rimmer, Riddick and Hopkins. By virtue of the SFO, Dr Lee Shau Kee 
is taken to be interested in 267,416,250 shares and 52,047,850 units of warrants, which are duplicated in the interests described in 
Notes 2, 7 and 8.

(2) As a director of the Company and one of the discretionary beneficiaries of two discretionary trusts holding units in a unit trust (“Unit 
Trust”) as described in Note 7, Mr Lee Ka Shing is taken to be interested in 267,416,250 shares and 52,047,850 units of warrants, 
which are duplicated in the interests described in Notes 1, 7 and 8, by virtue of the SFO.

(3) All these shares and warrants were held by a unit trust of which Dr Patrick Fung Yuk Bun was a beneficiary.

(4) All these shares and warrants were held through corporations in which Mr Richard Tang Yat Sun owned more than 30% of the issued 
shares.

(5) These 2,218,000 shares, of which 1,080,000 shares were held by a trust of which Mr Thomas Liang Cheung Biu’s spouse was a 
beneficiary and the remaining of 1,138,000 shares were held by his spouse.

(6) The Group issued Bonus Warrants on the basis of one Warrant for every five Shares held on the record date (i.e. 30 June 2015). 
Each Warrant entitled the holder to subscribe in cash for one Share at the initial subscription price of HK$13.50 per Share (subject to 
adjustments). The Warrants are exercisable at any time during a period of thirty months commencing from 20 July 2015 to 19 January 
2018. The Warrant commenced trading on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 21 July 2015. As at 31 December 2015, the total units 
of warrants is 115,443,978.
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(7) Rimmer and Riddick, trustees of different discretionary trusts, held units in the Unit Trust. Hopkins was the trustee of the Unit Trust 
which beneficially owned all the issued ordinary shares in Henderson Development. These 267,416,250 shares and 52,047,850 units 
of warrants are duplicated in the interests described in Notes 1, 2 and 8.

(8) Henderson Development had a controlling interest in Henderson Land which was the holding company of Aynbury. The 267,416,250 
shares and 52,047,850 units of warrants were beneficially owned by some of the subsidiaries of Aynbury. Higgins, Multiglade and 
Threadwell were subsidiaries of Aynbury. These 267,416,250 shares and 52,047,850 units of warrants are duplicated in the interests 
described in Notes 1, 2 and 7.

Directors’ and Management Emoluments

Particulars of directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in notes 5 
and 6 respectively to the financial statements.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group has the following continuing connected transactions during the year ended 31 December 2015:

(1) On 18 March 2013, a lease (the “Whole of 18th Floor Lease”) was entered into between Shahdan Limited 
(“Shahdan”) as landlord and Union Medical Centre Limited (“Union Medical”) as tenant, whereby Shahdan 
agreed to let to Union Medical the premises upon the terms as detailed below:

Premises : Whole of 18th Floor, Miramar Tower, 132 Nathan Road, Tsimshatsui, 
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Term : Miramar Tower 1803-07 and 1812 Premises:
Three years, commencing from 1 February 2013 to 31 January 2016 
(both days inclusive);

Miramar Tower 1801-02 Premises:
Two years eight months, commencing from 1 June 2013 to 31 January 
2016 (both days inclusive);

Miramar Tower 1808 and 1813 Premises:
Two years seven months and sixteen days, commencing from 15 June 
2013 to 31 January 2016 (both days inclusive);

Miramar Tower 1814 Premises:
Two years five months sixteen days, commencing from 16 August 2013 
to 31 January 2016 (both days inclusive);

Miramar Tower 1815 Premises, Miramar Tower 1816 Premises and 
Miramar Tower 1817-18 Premises:

Two years four months fifteen days, commencing from 16 September 
2013 to 31 January 2016 (both days inclusive);

Miramar Tower 1809-11 Premises:
One year nine months six days, commencing from 25 April 2014 to 31 
January 2016 (both days inclusive).
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Rent and other Charges : The rent payable on a monthly basis (exclusive of government rates, 
management fee and air-conditioning charges) during the term is 
HK$1,462,000.00;

The aggregate monthly management fee and air-conditioning charges 
(subject to the periodic review or revision by Shahdan or its designated 
property manager) is HK$233,166.40; and

Extra chilled water supply costs may be charged by Shahdan to Union 
Medical for additional chilled water supply required by Union Medical 
which is beyond the specified normal daily chilled water supply hours.

Sublet : The tenant shall have the right to sublet part of the Premises to Paragon 
Clinic Limited, which is a third party (not being a Connected Person of 
the Company) or individual doctors provided prior written consent has 
been obtained from Shahdan.

User : To be used as a clinic only.

Union Medical is a company indirectly controlled by the private trusts of the family of Dr Lee Shau Kee. 
Accordingly, Union Medical is a connected person of the Company thereby rendering the Whole of 18th 
Floor Lease a continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the of Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”).

(2) On 6 June 2013, the Group entered into the following agreements with Henderson Property Agency 
Limited (“HPAL”) which constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company:

(i) A tenancy agreement (the “Shop 3013 Tenancy Agreement”) entered into between Shahdan as 
landlord and HPAL as tenant which has been terminated on 29 September 2015 by signing a 
surrender agreement;

(ii) A licence agreement (the “Podium Roof Licence Agreement”) entered into between Shahdan as 
licensor and HPAL as licensee which has been terminated on 29 September 2015 by signing a 
surrender agreement; and

(iii) A licence agreement (the “Fan Room Licence Agreement”) entered into between Shahdan as licensor 
and HPAL as licensee which has been terminated on 29 September 2015 by signing a surrender 
agreement.
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Details of the terms and conditions of the agreements are set out as follows:

Details of the Shop 3013 Tenancy Agreement

Premises : Shop 3013, 3/F., Miramar Shopping Centre, 132 Nathan Road, 
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Shop 3013 Premises”).

Term : Three years commencing from 16 June 2013 to 15 June 2016, both days 
inclusive, provided that both the landlord and the tenant shall have the 
right to early terminate this tenancy by giving a notice of not less than 
three months to other party after 15 June 2014.

Rent and other charges : (a) rent payable on a monthly basis (exclusive of Government 
rates, management fee, air-conditioning charges and promotion 
contribution) during the term is HK$594,400.00;

(b) aggregate monthly management fee and air-conditioning charges 
(subject to the periodic review by Shahdan or its designated property 
manager) is HK$94,110.10;

Extra chilled water supply costs may be charged by the landlord to 
the tenant for additional chilled water supply required by the tenant 
which is beyond the specified normal daily chilled water supply 
hours;

(c) monthly promotion contribution, being 1% of the monthly rent of 
the Shop 3013 Premises (subject to periodic review by Shahdan) is 
HK$5,944.00; and

(d) Government rates as per Government’s assessment.

User : To be used as a property agency only.
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Details of the Podium Roof Licence Agreement

Podium Roof : Portion of Podium Roof, 3/F., Miramar Shopping Centre, 132 Nathan 
Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Term : Three years commencing from 16 June 2013 to 15 June 2016, both days 
inclusive provided that both the licensor and the licensee shall have the 
right to early terminate this license by giving a notice of not less than 
three months to other party after 15 June 2014.

Licence fee and 
 other charges

: (a) licence fee payable on a monthly basis (exclusive of Government 
rates and management fee) during the term is HK$213,500.00;

(b) monthly management fee (subject to the periodic review by Shahdan 
or its designated property manager) is HK$11,939.70; and

(c) Government rates as per Government’s assessment.

User : Restricted to legal usage only.

Details of the Fan Room Licence Agreement

Fan Room : Fan Room, 3/F., Miramar Shopping Centre, 132 Nathan Road, 
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Term : Three years commencing from 16 June 2013 to 15 June 2016, both days 
inclusive, provided that both the licensor and the licensee shall have the 
right to early terminate this license by giving a notice of not less than 
three months to other party after 15 June 2014.

Licence fee and
 other charges

: (a) Licence fee payable on a monthly basis (exclusive of Government 
rates) during the term is HK$42,200.00; and

(b) Government rates as per Government’s assessment.

User : Restricted to legal usage only.

As HPAL is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Henderson Land Development Company Limited 
(“Henderson Land”) which in turn is a substantial shareholder of the Company. Accordingly, HPAL is 
a connected person of the Company under Rule 14A of the Listing Rules and the entering into of the 
Shop 3013 Tenancy Agreement, Podium Roof Licence Agreement and Fan Room Licence Agreement 
constituted continuing connected transactions for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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(3) On 19 November 2013, Profit Advantage Limited as tenant entered into a New Sub-Lease with IFC 
Development Limited as landlord and certain floor space at the ifc Mall are also being licenced by the 
landlord to the tenant. Details of the terms and conditions are set out as follows:

Premises : Shop Nos. 3101-3107 on Level Three of ifc Mall (the “ifc Premises”) and 
certain floor space at ifc Mall.

Term : Initial term of three years commencing from 7 July 2013 to 6 July 2016 
(the “Initial Term”) and, for the Licence, on an annual basis (and/or such 
shorter period as may be agreed between the landlord and the tenant) 
subject to termination upon termination of the New Sub-Lease.

Rent and other charges : The rent payable on monthly basis (exclusive of rates, air-conditioning 
and management charges, promotional levy and all other outgoings) 
during the term shall be as follows:

(a) From 7 July 2013 to 6 July 2016, basis rent in the sum of 
HK$836,594.00 per month together with turnover rent representing 
the amount by which 11% of the Gross Receipts exceeds the basic 
rent per month (the “Turnover Rent”);

(b) From 7 July 2016 to 6 July 2019, provided an option (as defined 
below) is exercised by the tenant, at open market rent provided that 
the basic rent shall not be less than HK$836,594.00 per month or 
more than HK$1,003,912.80 per month, together with the Turnover 
Rent.

The aggregate air-conditioning and management charges and promotional 
levy payable on monthly basis in respect of the New Sub-Lease shall be 
approximately HK$435,736.00 per month (subject to review from time 
to time). The aggregate licence fee, air-conditioning and management 
charges and promotional levy payable on a monthly basis in respect of 
the Licence shall be approximately HK$9,890.40 per month (subject to 
review from time to time).

Option : An option exercisable by the tenant at the expiry of the Initial Term on 6 
July 2016 to renew the sub-lease of the ifc Premises for three years. The 
parties will enter into new agreement(s) upon the tenant exercising the 
renewal option.

User : The ifc Premises shall be used for operating up-market restaurants 
and the certain floor space are used in connection with the restaurant 
business.

As the landlord is an associate of Henderson Land, it is a connected person of the Company and the 
entering into of the New Sub-Lease and Licence constituted continuing connected transactions for the 
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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(4) On 5 December 2013, a lease (the “Mira Moon Lease Agreement”) was entered into between Intelligent 
House Limited as landlord (the “Landlord”) and Mira Moon Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, as tenant (the “Tenant”), whereby the tenant had agreed to lease from the landlord the 
premises upon the terms as detailed below:

Premises : the Premises, being the remaining portion of section A of Marine Lot No. 
436 together with a building now known as “MIRA MOON” located at No. 
388 Jaffe Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Term : 10 years and 6 months, commencing from 21 November 2013 to 20 May 
2024 (both days inclusive).

Termination by sale and 
 redevelopment

: If, at any time during the Term, the Landlord shall resolve to (i) sell the 
Premises or any part of it; (ii) assign any of its rights and interests in 
the Premises or any part of it to any third party(ies); or (iii) re-develop 
the Premises or any part of it by demolition, rebuilding, renovation, 
refurbishment or otherwise, the Landlord shall have the right upon giving 
6 months written notice to the Tenant to terminate the Mira Moon Lease 
Agreement; provided that such notice of termination shall not be given by 
the Landlord to the Tenant on or before the expiry date of the 5th year of 
the Term (i.e. on or before 30 June 2018).

Rent : A base rent of HK$1,320,000.00 per month (the “Base Rent”) plus the 
Additional Rent, which is calculated in the following manner:

Additional Rent

The Additional Rent in respect of each and every year of the Term (the 
“Relevant Year”) for the Term (“Annual Additional Rent”) shall be:

(i) where the Gross Annual Room Revenue is less than or equal to 
HK$80,000,000.00, the amount of the Additional Rent payable 
shall be 22.5% of the Gross Annual Room Revenue exceeding 
HK$15,840,000.00 for the Relevant Year; or

(ii) w h e re  t h e  G ro s s  A n n u a l  R o o m R e v e n u e  i s  m o re  t h a n 
HK$80,000,000.00 but less than or equal to HK$100,000,000.00, 
the amount of the Additional Rent payable shall be 25% of the 
Gross Annual Room Revenue exceeding HK$15,840,000.00 for the 
Relevant Year; or

(iii) w h e re  t h e  G ro s s  A n n u a l  R o o m R e v e n u e  i s  m o re  t h a n 
HK$100,000,000.00 but less than or equal to HK$130,000,000.00, 
the amount of the Additional Rent payable shall be 27.5% of the 
Gross Annual Room Revenue exceeding HK$15,840,000.00 for the 
Relevant Year; or
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(iv) w h e re  t h e  G ro s s  A n n u a l  R o o m R e v e n u e  i s  m o re  t h a n 
HK$130,000,000.00, the amount of the Additional Rent payable 
shall be 30% of the Gross Annual Room Revenue exceeding 
HK$15,840,000.00 for the Relevant Year.

If the amount of Annual Additional Rent calculated based on the above 
formula is a negative figure, then no Annual Additional Rent shall be 
payable by the Tenant to the Landlord for that Relevant Year.

The Annual Additional Rent in respect of any Relevant Year shall be 
paid annually in arrears by the Tenant to the Landlord within 90 days 
immediately following the end of the Relevant Year subject to the terms 
and conditions of the Mira Moon Lease Agreement.

Food and Beverage 
 Charges

: The Tenant shall pay to the Landlord 15% of the monthly Food and 
Beverage Revenue of the Tenant’s business at the Food and Beverage 
Outlets without any deduction (the “Food and Beverage Charges”).

Provisional Food and Beverage Charges in respect of any calendar month 
shall be paid in arrears by the Tenant in respect of the monthly Food and 
Beverage Revenue of the Tenant’s business during the relevant calendar 
month by the 15th day of the immediately following calendar month.

Within 90 days after the expiration of each calendar year, the Tenant shall 
supply a statement certified by its auditors or external accountants (the 
“Certified Statement”) as to the actual amount of the Food and Beverage 
Revenue for the relevant calendar year.

If the actual sum paid as provisional Food and Beverage Charges payable 
for any calendar month is less than the actual Food and Beverage 
Charges payable for the relevant calendar month calculated based on 
the Certified Statement, the shortfall shall be paid by the Tenant to 
the Landlord within 30 days of the Landlord’s notice to the Tenant on 
such shortfall. If the actual sum paid as provisional Food and Beverage 
Charges payable for any calendar month is more than the actual Food 
and Beverage Charges payable for the relevant calendar month calculated 
based on the Certified Statement, such excess sum shall be refunded by 
the Landlord to the Tenant within 30 days of the Landlord’s receipt of the 
Certified Statement.
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Rates, outgoings and 
 other charges

: The Tenant shall pay and discharge all rates, taxes, assessments, 
duties, impositions, charges and outgoings levied on the Premises by 
the Government of Hong Kong or other lawful authority, save that the 
Government rent and property tax in respect of the Premises shall be 
paid by the Landlord.

The Tenant shall also pay to the suppliers and indemnify the Landlord 
against all deposits and charges in respect of electricity, gas, water and 
telephone and other services consumed or used at or in relation to the 
Premises.

Deposit : A sum of HK$1,320,000.00 payable by the Tenant to the Landlord on the 
signing of the Mira Moon Lease Agreement

Rent-free period : Three respective rent free periods for a total of 6 months during the Term 
as follows:

(i) the 3rd and 4th months of the Term (i.e. commencing from 21 
January 2014 to 20 March 2014 (both days inclusive));

(ii) the 15th and 16th months of the Term (i.e. commencing from 21 
January 2015 to 20 March 2015 (both days inclusive)); and

(iii) the 27th and 28th months of the Term (i.e. commencing from 21 
January 2016 to 20 March 2016 (both days exclusive));

during which the Tenant shall not be obliged to pay the Base Rent but 
shall pay the rates, all outgoings and utility charges in respect of the 
Premises.

The Gross Annual Room Revenue received by the Tenant during each 
of the rent-free periods will be counted for the purpose of calculation of 
the Additional Rent for that relevant year of the Term and the Tenant shall 
also pay to the Landlord the Food and Beverage Charges during the rent-
free periods.

User : To use the Premises for the purpose of a high class hotel and providing 
such types of services that are normally provided by other high class 
hotels in Hong Kong.

Commencement of 
 business at the 
 Premises

: The Tenant shall commence business as a hotel at the Premises on or 
before 21 November 2013.
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Opening contribution : The Landlord shall contribute a sum in a total amount of HK$9.7 million 
towards the actual cost incurred by the Tenant in setting up a first class 
design hotel at the Premises and such Opening Contribution shall be paid 
by the Landlord to the Tenant within 60 days after signing of the Mira 
Moon Lease Agreement by the Tenant.

Transfer of restaurant 
 licence

: At the expiration or sooner determination of the Term, the Tenant shall 
at the request of the Landlord assign or transfer or procure to assign or 
transfer the general restaurant licence and the liquor licence or related 
licences (collectively the “Licences”) for operating the then existing Food 
and Beverage Outlets at the Premises to the Landlord or such person 
or corporation nominated by the Landlord without any consideration, 
compensation or payment. The Tenant shall not transfer or assign the 
Licences to any person or corporation for consideration or otherwise 
during the Term without the consent of the Landlord. All charges relating 
to the aforesaid assignment or transfer of the Licences shall be borne by 
the Landlord.

Transfer of hotel licence : At the expiration or sooner determination of the Term, the Tenant shall at 
the request of the Landlord assign or transfer or procure and ensure the 
assignment or transfer of the hotel licence used in the operation of the 
Premises as a hotel (the “Hotel Licence”) to the Landlord or such person 
or corporation nominated by the Landlord (the “Transferee”) without any 
consideration, compensation or payment. Without the consent of the 
Landlord, the Tenant or the holder of the Hotel Licence shall not transfer 
or assign the Hotel Licence to any person or corporation for consideration 
or otherwise. All charges relating to the aforesaid assignment or transfer 
of the Hotel Licence shall be borne by the Landlord.

As the Landlord is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Henderson Land, which in turn a substantial 
shareholder of the Company, therefore the Landlord is a connected person of the Company under the 
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the entering into of the Mira Moon Lease Agreement constituted a continuing 
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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(5) On 10 July 2014, the Group entered into the following agreements with HPAL which constituted 
continuing connected transactions for the Company:

(i) A tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy Agreement”) entered into between Shahdan as landlord and 
HPAL as tenant;

(ii) A licence agreement (the “Signage A Licence Agreement”) entered into between Shahdan as licensor 
and HPAL as licensee which has been terminated on 29 September 2015 by signing a surrender 
agreement; and

(iii) A licence agreement (the “Pillar Signage Licence Agreement”) entered into between Shahdan as 
licensor and HPAL as licensee.

Details of the terms and conditions of the agreements are set out as follows:

Details of the Tenancy Agreement

Premises : Shops 501-502 and 503A-C, 5/F., Miramar Shopping Centre, 132 Nathan 
Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Term : Three years commencing from 5 August 2014 to 4 August 2017, both 
days inclusive. Both the landlord and the tenant shall have the right to 
early terminate the lease by giving a notice of not less than three months 
to the other party after 4 February 2016.

Rent and other charges : (a) rent payable on a monthly basis (exclusive of Government 
rates, management fee, air-conditioning charges and promotion 
contribution) during the term is HK$1,900,000.00;

(b) G o v e r n m e n t  r a t e s  ( s u b j e c t  t o  G o v e r n m e n t ’s  re v i e w )  i s 
HK$179,550.00 per quarter;

(c) aggregate month l y  management fee and a i r-cond i t ion ing 
charges (subject to periodic review by Shahdan or its designated 
management company of the Premises) is HK$320,778.02; and

(d) monthly promotion contribution, being 1% of the monthly rent 
of Premises, that is HK$19,000.00 subject to periodic review by 
Shahdan.
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Details of the Signage A Licence Agreement

Signage A : Signage A on the external wall facing Nathan Road of Miramar Shopping 
Centre, 132 Nathan Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Term : Two years eleven months and four days commencing from 1 September 
2014 to 4 August 2017 subject to the right of early termination. Both the 
licensor and the licensee shall have the right to early terminate the license 
by giving a notice not less than three months after 28 February 2015. The 
Licensee has surrendered to the Licensor on 31 May 2015.

Licence fee and 
 other charges

: (a) The licence fee (inclusive of electricity charges) payable on a monthly 
basis during the term is HK$61,000.00; and

(b) Government rates (subject to Government’s review) is HK$7,950.00 
per quarter.

User : To be used for advertising the trade name of the licensee only.

Details of the Pillar Signage Licence Agreement

Pillar Signage Licence Area : Pillar Signage near Shops Nos. G3-5, two service lift cars and service 
lift lobby near Shops Nos. G21 and G22 on the Ground Floor of Miramar 
Shopping Centre, 132 Nathan Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Term : Three years commencing from 5 August 2014 to 4 August 2017 subject 
to the right of early termination. The licensor shall have the right to early 
terminate the license by giving one month’s prior notice to the licensee 
and repossess the Pillar Signage Licence Area without any compensation 
to the licensee.

Licence fee and 
 other charges

: (a) The licence fee (exclusive of electricity charges but inclusive of 
management fee, air-conditioning charge and promotion contribution) 
payable for the whole term is HK$1,100.00;

(b) Government rates shall be borne by the licensee in the event the 
licensor receives the rates assessment bill from the Rating and 
Valuation Department; and

(c) Electricity charges, and ongoing maintenance cost (if any) shall be 
borne by the licensee during the Licence Period.

User : To be used for advertising the trade name of the licensee only.

As HPAL is a connected person of the Company, the entering into of the Tenancy Agreement, Signage A 
Licence Agreement and Pillar Signage Licence Agreement constituted continuing connected transactions 
for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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(6) On 8 October 2014, a lease (the “Citistore Tenancy Agreement”) was entered into between Shahdan as 
landlord and Citistore (Hong Kong) Limited (“Citistore”) as tenant, whereby Citistore had agreed to lease 
from Shahdan the premises upon the terms as detailed below:

Citistore Premises : Shop 2004, 2/F., Miramar Shopping Centre, 132 Nathan Road, 
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Term : Three years commencing from 3 October 2014 to 2 October 2017.

Rent and other charges : (a) The rent payable on monthly basis (exclusive of Government 
rates, management fee, air-conditioning charges and promotion 
contribution) (payable in advance on the 1st day of each month) 
during the term is HK$290,000.00 per month plus the Annual 
Additional Turnover Rent (payable in arrear);

(b) Government rates (subject to Government’s review) is HK$26,700.00 
per quarter (payable on the 1st day of January, April, July and 
October);

(c) aggregate monthly management fee and air-conditioning charges 
(subject to periodic review by Shahdan or its property manager) 
(payable in advance on the 1st day of each month) is HK$47,890.44; 
and

(d) monthly promotion contribution being 1% of the monthly basic rent 
as referred to in (a) above (subject to periodic review by Shahdan) 
(payable in advance on the 1st day of each month).

Rent-free period : Three respective rent free periods for a total of 3 months during the Term 
as follows:

(a) initial rent-free period commencing from 3 October 2014 for a period 
of one month;

(b) second rent-free period commencing from 3 October 2015 for a 
period of one month; and

(c) third rent-free period commencing from 3 October 2016 for a period 
of one month.

During the rent-free period, Citistore is not obliged to pay rent but pay 
for the management fee, air-conditioning charges, Government rates 
and promotion contribution and other outgoings in respect of Citistore 
Premises.

User : To be used as retail shop only.

As Citistore is an indirect subsidiary of Henderson Land, Citistore is a connected person of the Company 
and the entering into of the Citistore Lease constituted a continuing connected transaction for the 
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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(7) On 23 November 2015, a lease (the “New Whole of 18th Floor Lease”) was entered into between 
Shahdan as landlord and Union Medical Centre Limited (“Union Medical”) as tenant, whereby Shahdan 
agreed to let to Union Medical the premises upon the terms as detailed below:

Premises : Units 1801-18 on the 18th Floor, Miramar Tower, 132 Nathan Road, 
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Terms : Three years, commencing from 1 February 2016 to 31 January 2019 (both 
days inclusive).

Rent and other charges : The rent payable on a monthly basis (exclusive of government rates, 
management fee and air-conditioning charges)  (payable in advance on 
the 1st day of each month) during the term is HK$1,841,307.00;

The aggregate monthly management fee and air-conditioning charges 
(subject to the periodic review or revision by Shahdan or its designated 
property manager) (payable in advance on the 1st day of each month) is 
HK$265,306.60; and

Extra chilled water supply costs may be charged by Shahdan to Union 
Medical for additional chilled water supply required by Union Medical 
which is beyond the specified normal daily chilled water supply hours.

User : To be used as a clinic only.

Union Medical is a connected person of the Company thereby rendering the New Whole of 18th Floor 
Lease a continuing connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Since both Dr Lee Shau Kee and Mr Lee Ka Shing, being Directors, through companies indirectly controlled 
by the private trusts of the family of Dr Lee Shau Kee, are deemed to be interested in the shares in Henderson 
Land and Union Medical, they both have material interest in all of the above transactions.
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Annual review of Continuing Connected Transactions

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have reviewed the above-mentioned continuing 
connected transactions and confirmed that they have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(ii) on normal commercial terms; and

(iii) in accordance with the above relevant agreements governing them which terms are fair and reasonable 
and in the interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have reviewed the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and 
confirmed in writing to the board of directors of the Company that they:

(i) have received the approval of the board of directors of the Company;

(ii) are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(iii) have been entered into in accordance with the terms of the above relevant agreements governing the 
transactions; and

(iv) have not exceeded the relevant cap amounts of such transactions as disclosed in the relevant 
announcements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or Contracts

Apart from the material interest that some of the directors and their connected entity held in the contracts 
under the paragraph of the Continuing Connected Transactions, there were no other transactions, 
arrangements or contracts of significance which subsisted during or at the end of the financial year in which 
the Company or any subsidiary was a party and in which a director was interested, directly or indirectly, and 
the director’s interest was material.
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

The following directors are considered to have interests in businesses which compete or are likely to compete 
with the businesses of the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules:

1. Dr Lee Shau Kee, Mr Lee Ka Shing and Dr Colin Lam Ko Yin are also directors of Henderson 
Development and Henderson Land which, through their subsidiaries, are also engaged in the businesses 
of property investment, hotel management and operation and other related services.

2. Mr Eddie Lau Yum Chuen is also a director of Henderson Land which, through its subsidiaries, is also 
engaged in the businesses of property investment, hotel management and operation and other related 
services.

3. Dr Lee Shau Kee, Dr Colin Lam Ko Yin, Mr Eddie Lau Yum Chuen, Mr Norman Ho Hau Chong and  
Mr Alexander Au Siu Kee are also directors of Hong Kong Ferry (Holdings) Company Limited, the principal 
activities of this group include property development, property investment and travel business.

4. Mr Alexander Au Siu Kee is also a director of The Wharf (Holdings) Limited which, through its subsidiaries, 
is also engaged in the businesses of property investment, hotel management and operation and other 
related services.

As the board of directors of the Company is independent from the boards of the above-mentioned companies 
and none of the above directors controls the board of the Company, the Group is capable of carrying on its 
businesses independently of, and at arm’s length from, the businesses of those companies.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every director shall be indemnified out of the fund of the 
Company against all liabilities incurred by him as such Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil 
or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted, or in connection with any 
application under the Ordinance in which relief from liability is granted to him by the Court. The Company and 
its subsidiaries have taken out and maintained directors’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides 
appropriate cover for the Directors and directors of the subsidiaries of the Group.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities

During the year ended 31 December 2015, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or 
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Bonus Warrants Issue

The Group issued Bonus Warrants on the basis of one Warrant for every five Shares held on the record 
date (i.e. 30 June 2015). Each Warrant entitled the holder to subscribe in cash for one Share at the initial 
subscription price of HK$13.50 per Share (subject to adjustments). The Warrants are exercisable at any 
time during a period of thirty months commencing from 20 July 2015 to 19 January 2018. The Warrant 
commenced trading on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 21 July 2015. 115,446,250 units of Warrants were 
issued on 30 June 2015. During the year, 2,272 units of Warrants had been exercised by the holders thereof. 
115,443,978 units of Warrants remain unexercised as at 31 December 2015.
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Shares Issued and Share Capital

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company issued and allotted 2,272 shares on the exercise of 
warrants and the Group realised cash proceeds of approximately HK$30,698 (net of expenses).

Details of the share capital during the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note 25 to the financial 
statements.

Equity-linked Agreements

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group at 31 December 2015 are set 
out in note 22 to the financial statements.

Particulars of Loan Capital, Convertible Securities or Options Issued by the 

Company and its Subsidiaries

The Company and its subsidiaries have not issued, during the year ended 31 December 2015, any loan 
capital, convertible securities or options.

Borrowing Cost Capitalisation

No borrowing cost was capitalised by the Company and its subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 
2015 (2014: HK$Nil).

Public Float

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, 
based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the directors.

Reserves

Movements in reserves during the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note 25 to the financial 
statements.

Group’s Five-Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out 
on page 146.
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Group Properties

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the Group are shown on pages 147 to 148.

Corporate Finance

The Group maintains its conservative financial policy, with high liquidity and low gearing. Gearing, calculated 
by dividing consolidated total borrowings by consolidated total shareholders’ equity, is only 10% as at 31 
December 2015 (at 31 December 2014: 21%).

The Group conducts its business primarily in Hong Kong with the related cash flows, assets and liabilities 
being denominated mainly in Hong Kong dollars. The Group’s primary foreign exchange exposure arises from 
its operation in mainland China as well as certain bank deposits which are denominated in RMB and equity 
and bond investments which are denominated in USD, EUR, SGD, JPY and GBP.

Majority of the Group’s financing facilities obtained are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and interests on 
bank loans and borrowings are chargeable mainly based on certain interest margin over the Hong Kong 
Interbank Offer Rate which is therefore of floating rate in nature.

The Group has adequate credit facilities available to fund its development programme for the foreseeable 
future. At 31 December 2015, total available facilities amounted to approximately HK$3.4 billion (at 31 
December 2014: approximately HK$3.8 billion), and 42% of that (at 31 December 2014: 72%) were utilised. 
At 31 December 2015, consolidated net cash were approximately HK$1.62 billion (at 31 December 2014: 
HK$0.79 billion), of which HK$0.03 billion was secured borrowings (at 31 December 2014: HK$0.01 billion).

Employees

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had a total of about 1,997 full-time employees, including 1,890 employed 
in Hong Kong and 107 employed in The People’s Republic of China.

The Group is the “Equal Opportunity Employer”; we value dedication and respect, and work hard to instill a 
sense of unity, ownership and professionalism for all of our employees that supports the achievement of the 
Group’s Mission, Vision and Business Strategies.

It is the policy of the Group to remunerate employees in a fair and equitable manner. The Group develops a 
performance-driven culture and adopts Total Rewards Management for talents attraction, employee recognition 
and retention.

The Group reviews its Remuneration and Benefits Program on a regular basis to ensure the program is in 
compliance with the latest laws, in line with market practice and keeps up with market conditions and levels of 
remuneration.
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Training and Development

The Group regards Employees as our most precious asset. We commit ourselves to providing a continuous 
learning environment and opportunities to our Employees at all levels to help them grow and excel in 
productivity.

The Group strives to continuously develop a comprehensive Learning and Development Roadmap including 
the provision of in-house and external training programs such as Management/Supervisory Skills, Business 
Knowledge, Technical Skills, Customer Services Skills, Language Ability, People Management and Personal 
Effectiveness, etc. for employees at all levels to advance their career achievements within the Group.

Subsequent to continued deployment of resources towards employee training and development, the Group 
has been awarded “Manpower Developer” by the Employees Retraining Board every year since 2011, in 
recognition of the Group’s outstanding achievements in fostering an organizational culture conductive to 
manpower training and development as well as life-long learning.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has reviewed the financial results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 
and discussed with internal audit executives and independent auditors matters on auditing, internal control 
and financial reports of the Group.

Auditors

KPMG retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of 
KPMG as auditors of the Company until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting is to be proposed 
at the forthcoming 2016 Annual General Meeting.

Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains certain statements that are forward-looking or which use certain forward-
looking terminologies. These forward-looking statements are based on the current beliefs, assumptions 
and expectations of the Board of Directors of the Company regarding the industry and markets in which it 
operates. These forward-looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors beyond the 
Company’s control which may cause actual results or performance to differ materially from those expressed or 
implied in such forward-looking statements.

By Order of the Board
LEE KA SHING
Chairman and CEO

Hong Kong, 17 March 2016
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of 
Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, Limited 
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 76 to 145, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. 
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other 
person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 
entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2015 and of the Group’s financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in 
compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong
Hong Kong, 17 March 2016



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
for the year ended 31 December 2015

76

2015 2014
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 9 3,250,775 3,127,089
Cost of inventories (207,183) (219,587)
Staff costs 3(a) (540,540) (544,121)
Utilities, repairs and maintenance and rent (203,208) (198,224)
Tour and ticketing costs (1,105,200) (1,084,795)

 

Gross profit 1,194,644 1,080,362
Other revenue 100,390 101,763
Operating and other expenses (313,527) (282,991)
Depreciation (157,172) (143,940)

 

824,335 755,194
Finance costs 3(b) (33,823) (38,005)
Share of profits less losses of associates 12 57 6,865
Share of loss of a joint venture (902) (1,647)

 

789,667 722,407
Other non-operating net income 3(c) 127,717 14,887
Net increase in fair value of investment properties 10(a) 626,090 733,351

 

Profit before taxation 3 1,543,474 1,470,645

Taxation
Current 4(a) (136,621) (130,089)
Deferred 4(a) (11,233) (10,929)

 

Profit for the year 1,395,620 1,329,627

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company 1,355,385 1,300,775
Non-controlling interests 40,235 28,852

1,395,620 1,329,627

Earnings per share – basic and diluted 8 HK$2.35 HK$2.25

The notes on pages 85 to 145 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends payable to 
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 7(a).
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2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit for the year 1,395,620 1,329,627
 

Other comprehensive income for the year 
 (after tax and reclassification adjustments):
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translation of the financial statements 
 of overseas subsidiaries (29,289) (12,986)
Available-for-sale securities:
– changes in fair value (5,311) (6,181)
– transfer to profit or loss upon disposal (11,816) (14,344)
– transfer to profit or loss upon impairment 11,719 2,676

 

(34,697) (30,835)
 

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,360,923 1,298,792
 

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company 1,328,161 1,273,236
Non-controlling interests 32,762 25,556

 

Total comprehensive income for the year 1,360,923 1,298,792
 

There is no tax effect relating to the above component of other comprehensive income.

The notes on pages 85 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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2015 2014
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Investment properties 10(a) 12,658,338 11,905,710
Other property, plant and equipment 10(a) 545,620 702,787

 

13,203,958 12,608,497
Interests in associates 12 1,729 1,640
Interest in a joint venture 13 – 5,854
Available-for-sale securities 14 252,142 277,355
Deferred tax assets 24(b)(ii) 3,846 3,428

 

13,461,675 12,896,774
 

Current assets
Inventories 16 124,052 132,769
Trade and other receivables 17 250,685 270,664
Available-for-sale securities 14 33,421 34,337
Trading securities 18 14,042 11,396
Cash and bank balances 19 3,077,497 3,534,476
Tax recoverable 24(a) 1,023 15,851

 

3,500,720 3,999,493
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 15 – 350,929

 

3,500,720 4,350,422
 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 20 (573,241) (535,111)
Bank loans and overdrafts 22 (455,187) (1,544,784)
Sales and rental deposits received (203,403) (218,138)
Tax payable 24(a) (46,699) (39,224)

 

(1,278,530) (2,337,257)
 

Net current assets 2,222,190 2,013,165
 

Total assets less current liabilities carried forward 15,683,865 14,909,939
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2015 2014
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets less current liabilities brought forward 15,683,865 14,909,939

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans 22 (967,797) (1,161,585)
Deferred liabilities 23 (137,078) (175,083)
Amounts due to holders of non-controlling 
 interests of a subsidiary 21 – (38,687)
Deferred tax liabilities 24(b)(ii) (249,126) (242,113)

 

(1,354,001) (1,617,468)
 

NET ASSETS 14,329,864 13,292,471

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 25(b) 691,721 691,690
Reserves 13,491,318 12,463,318

 

Total equity attributable to shareholders of the Company 14,183,039 13,155,008
Non-controlling interests 146,825 137,463

 

TOTAL EQUITY 14,329,864 13,292,471
 

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 17 March 2016.

LEE KA SHING COLIN LAM KO YIN
Chairman and CEO Director

The notes on pages 85 to 145 form part of these financial statements.
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Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

General 
reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2014 404,062 287,628 (91,086) 151,950 304,827 26,676 11,051,696 12,135,753 136,582 12,272,335

Changes in equity for 2014:
Profit for the year – – – – – – 1,300,775 1,300,775 28,852 1,329,627
Other comprehensive income – – – (9,690) – (17,849) – (27,539) (3,296) (30,835)

Total comprehensive income – – – (9,690) – (17,849) 1,300,775 1,273,236 25,556 1,298,792

Final dividends approved 
 in respect of the previous year 7(b) – – – – – – (155,852) (155,852) – (155,852)
Interim dividends declared 
 in respect of the current year 7(a) – – – – – – (98,129) (98,129) – (98,129)
Dividends paid to non-controlling 
 interests – – – – – – – – (24,675) (24,675)
Transition to no-par value 
 regime on 3 March 2014 25(b) 287,628 (287,628) – – – – – – – –

Balance at 31 December 2014 691,690 – (91,086) 142,260 304,827 8,827 12,098,490 13,155,008 137,463 13,292,471
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Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Exchange 
reserve

General 
reserve

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total 

equity
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at 1 January 2015 691,690 (91,086) 142,260 304,827 8,827 12,098,490 13,155,008 137,463 13,292,471
         

Changes in equity for 2015:
Profit for the year – – – – – 1,355,385 1,355,385 40,235 1,395,620

Other comprehensive income – – (21,816) – (5,408) – (27,224) (7,473) (34,697)
         

Total comprehensive income – – (21,816) – (5,408) 1,355,385 1,328,161 32,762 1,360,923
         

Final dividends approved 
 in respect of the previous year 7(b) – – – – – (184,714) (184,714) – (184,714)

Interim dividends declared 
 in respect of the current year 7(a) – – – – – (115,447) (115,447) – (115,447)

Shares issued on exercise 
 of warrants 25(b) 31 – – – – – 31 – 31

Dividends paid to non-controlling 
 interests – – – – – – – (23,400) (23,400)

         

Balance at 31 December 2015 691,721 (91,086) 120,444 304,827 3,419 13,153,714 14,183,039 146,825 14,329,864
         

The notes on pages 85 to 145 form part of these financial statements.



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2015

82

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities
Profit before taxation 1,543,474 1,470,645
Adjustments for:
 Interest income from unlisted debt securities (6,551) (13,925)
 Dividend income from listed securities (5,050) (5,123)
 Bank interest income (53,540) (46,884)
 Net loss/(gain) on disposal of other property, plant 
  and equipment 317 (334)
 Impairment loss on trade receivables 70 203
 Reversal of provision for properties held for resale (252) (1,294)
 Depreciation 157,172 143,940
 Finance costs 33,823 38,005
 Share of profits less losses of associates (57) (6,865)
 Share of loss of a joint venture 902 1,647
 Net gain on disposal of properties (123,451) –
 Net loss on disposal of a joint venture 177 –
 Net realised and unrealised gains on trading securities (4,169) (3,219)
 Impairment loss on available-for-sale securities 11,719 2,676
 Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities (11,816) (14,344)
 Net increase in fair value of investment properties (626,090) (733,351)
 Exchange differences 37,741 29,401

 

Operating profit before changes in working capital 954,419 861,178
Decrease in inventories 2,826 17,631
Decrease in trade and other receivables 25,681 29,027
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due from associates (32) 8,259
Decrease in amount due from a joint venture 775 2,516
Decrease in amounts due to associates (15) (8,438)
Decrease in trade and other payables (34,486) (52,740)
Increase in sales and rental deposits received 33,265 32,250
(Decrease)/increase in deferred liabilities (38,005) 48,294
Payment for purchase of trading securities (121,216) (97,152)
Proceeds from disposal of trading securities 122,739 96,213

 

Cash generated from operations carried forward 945,951 937,038
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2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash generated from operations brought forward 945,951 937,038
Interest received 59,317 67,817
Interest and other borrowing costs paid (37,716) (33,918)
Dividends paid (300,161) (253,981)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (23,400) (24,675)
Tax paid
 – Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (125,254) (123,763)
 – Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded 245 188
 – Overseas tax paid (4,658) (6,769)
 – Overseas tax refunded 15,349 6,371

 

Net cash generated from operating activities 529,673 568,308
 

Investing activities
Payment for purchase of investment properties (28,316) (12,943)
Payment for purchase of other property, plant and equipment (99,486) (209,531)
Payment for purchase of available-for-sale securities (197,130) (162,628)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale securities 214,439 284,050
Proceeds from disposal of other property, plant and equipment 800 6,404
Proceeds from disposal of properties 434,200 –
Dividend income received from listed securities 5,050 5,123
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits with maturity more than 
 three months 50,120 (75,218)

 

Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities 379,677 (164,743)
 

Financing activities
Proceeds from new bank loans 6,294,312 10,180,025
Repayment of bank loans (7,574,300) (9,961,257)
Repayment of advances from holders of non-controlling 
 interests of subsidiaries (7,741) (11,299)
Proceeds from issue of new shares 31 –

 

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (1,287,698) 207,469
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2015 2014
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (378,348) 611,034

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1,662,178 1,076,863

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (26,816) (25,719)
 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1,257,014 1,662,178
 

Analysis of the balances of cash and
 cash equivalents at 31 December
Cash and bank balances 19 3,077,497 3,534,476
Bank overdrafts 22 (1,506) (3,201)
Less: Time deposits with maturity more than three months (1,818,977) (1,869,097)

 

1,257,014 1,662,178
 

The notes on pages 85 to 145 form part of these financial statements.



Notes to the Financial Statements 85

1 Significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial 
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued 
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally 
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial 
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. A summary of the significant accounting 
policies adopted by the Group is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early 
adoption for the current accounting period of the Group and the Company. None of these developments 
have impact on the Group’s financial statements and the Group has not applied any new standard or 
interpretation that is not yet effective for current accounting period.

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 comprise Miramar Hotel and 
Investment Company, Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”) 
and the Group’s interest in associates and a joint venture.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical cost basis 
except that the following assets are stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting policies set 
out below:

– investment property (see note 1(g)); and

– financial instruments classified as available-for-sale securities or as trading securities (see note 1(f)).

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell (see note 1(v)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of 
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the 
financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights 
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash 
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated 
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the 
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of 
those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of 
those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the Group 
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at non-controlling interests’ 
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position within equity, 
separately from equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests 
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total 
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling interests and the 
equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual 
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of 
financial position in accordance with notes 1(m) or (n) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling 
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are 
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in 
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that 
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded 
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f)) or, when appropriate, the cost on 
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture (see note 1(d)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 
impairment losses (see note 1(j)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a 
disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(d) Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control or joint 
control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company and other parties contractually agree to 
share control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements 
under the equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is 
classified as held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted 
for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable 
net assets over the cost of the investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post 
acquisition change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to 
the investment (see notes 1(e) and (j)). Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the 
post-acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax 
items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate or the joint venture, the Group’s 
interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the 
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For this 
purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment under the equity method together 
with the Group’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the 
associate or the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates and joint 
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised 
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, retained interest 
is not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate or joint control 
over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting 
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date 
when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as 
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(f)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates and joint ventures are stated 
at cost less impairment losses (see note 1(j)), unless classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal 
group that is classified as held for sale).
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of:

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition 
date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a 
bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business 
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see note 
1(j)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill is 
included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures, are as follows:

Investments in debt and equity securities are initially stated at fair value, which is their transaction price 
unless it is determined that fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and that fair 
value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or based on a 
valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets. Cost includes attributable transaction 
costs, except where indicated otherwise below. These investments are subsequently accounted for as 
follows, depending on their classification:

Investments in securities held for trading are classified as current assets. Any attributable transaction 
costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. At the end of each reporting period the fair value 
is remeasured, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss 
recognised in profit or loss does not include any dividends or interest earned on these investments as 
these are recognised in accordance with the policies set out in notes 1(s)(iv) and (s)(v).
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities (continued)

Dated debt securities that the Group and/or the Company have the positive ability and intention to hold 
to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity securities. Held-to-maturity securities are stated at amortised 
cost less impairment losses (see note 1(j)).

Investments in securities which do not fall into any of the above categories are classified as available-
for-sale securities. At the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured, with any resultant 
gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity in 
the fair value reserve. As an exception to this, investments in equity securities that do not have a quoted 
price in an active market for an identical instrument and whose fair value cannot otherwise be reliably 
measured are recognised in the statement of financial position at cost less impairment losses (see note 
1(j)). Dividend income from equity securities and interest income from debt securities calculated using 
the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the policies set out in 
notes 1(s)(iv) and 1(s)(v), respectively. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from changes in the 
amortised cost of debt securities are also recognised in profit or loss.

When the investments are derecognised or impaired (see note 1(j)), the cumulative gain or loss recognised 
in equity is reclassified to profit or loss. Investments are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group 
commits to purchase/sell the investments or they expire.

(g) Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or held under a leasehold interest (see 
note 1(i)) to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently 
undetermined future use and property that is being constructed or developed for future use as investment 
property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still in the course of construction or 
development at the end of the reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at 
that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an 
investment property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from investment properties is accounted 
for as described in note 1(s)(i).

When the Group holds a property interest under an operating lease to earn rental income and/or for 
capital appreciation, the interest is classified and accounted for as an investment property on a property-
by-property basis. Any such property interest which has been classified as an investment property is 
accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see note 1(i)), and the same accounting policies are 
applied to that interest as are applied to other investment properties leased under finance leases. Lease 
payments are accounted for as described in note 1(i).
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h) Other property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses (see note 1(j)):

– buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold land and classified as held under operating 
leases (see note 1(i));

– hotel property; and

– machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipment.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are 
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and 
are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their 
estimated residual value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

– leasehold land is depreciated over the remaining term of the lease;

– buildings including hotel property situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the unexpired term of 
the lease; and

– machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipment 4 – 10 years

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(i) Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group 
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period 
of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based on an 
evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the 
legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by Group under leases which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are classified as operating leases, 
with the following exceptions:

– property held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition of an investment 
property is classified as an investment property on a property-by-property basis and, if classified 
as investment property, is accounted for as if held under a finance lease (see note 1(g)); and
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(i) Leased assets (continued)

(i) Classification of assets leased to the Group (continued)

– land held for own use under an operating lease, the fair value of which cannot be measured 
separately from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the inception of the lease, is 
accounted for as being held under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly held under an 
operating lease. For these purposes, the inception of the lease is the time that the lease was first 
entered into by the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee.

(ii) Assets held for use in operating leases

When the Group leases out assets under operating leases, the assets are included in the statement 
of financial position according to their nature. Revenue arising from operating leases is recognised in 
accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition policies as set out in note 1(s)(i).

(iii) Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating leases, payments made under the 
leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the 
lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to 
be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an 
integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. Contingent rentals are charged to profit or 
loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The cost of acquiring land held under an operating lease is amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease term except where the property is classified as an investment property (see 
note 1(g)) or is held for development for sale (see note 1(k)(ii)).

(j) Impairment of assets

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables

Investments in debt and equity securities and other current and non-current receivables that are 
stated at cost or amortised cost or are classified as available-for-sale securities are reviewed at 
the end of each reporting period to determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment. 
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Group 
about one or more of the following loss events:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an 
adverse effect on the debtor; and

– a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment in an equity instrument below 
its cost.
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables (continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is determined and recognised as follows:

– For investments in associates and joint ventures accounted for under the equity method in the 
consolidated financial statements (see note 1(d)), the impairment loss is measured by comparing 
the recoverable amount of the investment with its carrying amount in accordance with note 1(j)(ii). 
The impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount in accordance with note 1(j)(ii).

– For unquoted equity securities carried at cost, the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset where the effect of discounting is 
material. Impairment losses for equity securities carried at cost are not reversed.

– For trade and other current receivables and other financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where 
the effect of discounting is material. This assessment is made collectively where these financial 
assets share similar risk characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not been 
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for financial assets which are assessed 
for impairment collectively are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk 
characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
linked objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not result in the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeding that which would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised in prior years.

– For available-for-sale securities, the cumulative loss that has been recognised in the fair value 
reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in 
profit or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and 
amortisation) and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in 
profit or loss.

Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss in respect of available-for-sale equity securities are 
not reversed through profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in the fair value of such assets is 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment losses in respect of available-for-sale debt securities are reversed if the subsequent 
increase in fair value can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. Reversals of impairment losses in such circumstances are recognised in profit or loss.
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Impairment of investments in debt and equity securities and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding assets directly, except for impairment 
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors included within trade and other receivables, whose 
recovery is considered doubtful but not remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful 
debts are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, 
the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against trade debtors directly and any amounts 
held in the allowance account relating to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously charged to the allowance account are reversed against the allowance account. Other 
changes in the allowance account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 
directly are recognised in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to 
identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an 
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

– property, plant and equipment;

– goodwill; and

– investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures in the Company’s statement of financial 
position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, 
the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

– Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value 
in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of time value of 
money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely 
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest 
group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised 
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of 
the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of 
an asset will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or 
value in use (if determinable).
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(j) Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other assets (continued)

– Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a 
favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses 
are credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(iii) Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, 
the Group is required to prepare an interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim 

financial reporting, in respect of the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the interim 
period, the Group applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria as it would 
at the end of the financial year (see notes 1(j)(i) and (j)(ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill, available-for-sale equity 
securities and unquoted equity securities carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period. 
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment 
been assessed only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates. Consequently, 
if the fair value of an available-for-sale equity security increases in the remainder of the annual period, 
or in any other period subsequently, the increase is recognised in other comprehensive income and 
not profit or loss.

(k) Inventories

(i) Consumable stores

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost formula and comprises all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the 
estimated costs to completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(k) Inventories (continued)

(i) Consumable stores (continued)

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in 
the period in which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to 
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a 
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal 
occurs.

(ii) Property development

Inventories in respect of property development activities are carried at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost and net realisable values are determined as follows:

– Properties held for resale

In the case of properties developed by the Group, cost is determined by apportionment of the 
total development costs for that development project, attributable to the unsold properties. Net 
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in selling the 
property.

The cost of properties held for resale comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and 
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

(l) Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 1(j)), except 
where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without any fixed repayment terms 
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less 
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any 
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption value being recognised in profit or loss 
over the period of the borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the effective interest 
method.



96 Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(n) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities 
measured in accordance with note 1(r)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised 
cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are within three months of maturity 
at acquisition and are readily convertible into known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of changes 
in value. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
consolidated cash flow statement.

(p) Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and 
the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered 
by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts 
are stated at their present values.

(q) Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. 
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except 
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary differences respectively, 
being the differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits.
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(q) Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, 
are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising 
from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing taxable 
temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same 
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal of the 
deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can 
be carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable 
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and 
credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authority and 
the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or 
credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities are those temporary differences 
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that 
affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a business combination), and 
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable 
differences, the Group controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they 
will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set 
out in note 1(g), the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply 
on sale of those assets at their carrying value at the end of the reporting period unless the property 
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of 
the economic benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, 
the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or 
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to 
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes 
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised when the liability to 
pay the related dividends is recognised.
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(q) Income tax (continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from 
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax 
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

– in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

– in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority on either:

– the same taxable entity; or

– different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax 
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets 
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified 
payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder incurs 
because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt 
instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of the guarantee is initially recognised as 
deferred income within trade and other payables. The fair value of financial guarantees issued at the 
time of issuance is determined by reference to fees charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar 
services, when such information is obtainable, or is otherwise estimated by reference to interest 
rate differentials, by comparing the actual rates charged by lenders when the guarantee is made 
available with the estimated rates that lenders would have charged, had the guarantees not been 
available, where reliable estimates of such information can be made. Where consideration is received 
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with 
the Group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no such consideration is received or 
receivable, an immediate expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred 
income.
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and contingent liabilities (continued)

(i) Financial guarantees issued (continued)

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised as deferred income is amortised in profit or loss 
over the term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees issued. In addition, provisions 
are recognised in accordance with note 1(r)(ii) if and when (i) it becomes probable that the holder of 
the guarantee will call upon the Group under the guarantee, and (ii) the amount of that claim on the 
Group is expected to exceed the amount currently carried in trade and other payables in respect of 
that guarantee i.e. the amount initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation.

(ii) Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the 
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that 
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can 
be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the 
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot 
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of 
outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent 
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(s) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Provided it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be 
measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(i) Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments 
over the periods covered by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative 
of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted 
are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments receivable. 
Contingent rentals are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are earned.



100 Notes to the Financial Statements

1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(s) Revenue recognition (continued)

(ii) Revenue arising from the sale of properties held for resale is recognised upon the later of the signing 
of the sale and purchase agreement and the completion of the properties, which is taken to be the 
point in time when the risks and rewards of ownership of the property have passed to the buyer. 
Deposits and instalments received on properties sold prior to the date of revenue recognition are 
included in the statement of financial position under sales deposits and instalments received.

(iii) Income from hotel, food and beverage, travel operations and management services is recognised 
when the relevant services are provided.

(iv) Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive 
payment is established. Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price 
of the investment goes ex-dividend.

(v) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method.

(t) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the 
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the foreign 
exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates 
approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial 
position items, including goodwill arising on consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or after 1 
January 2005, are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of 
the reporting period. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve. Goodwill arising on consolidation of a 
foreign operation acquired before 1 January 2005 is translated at the foreign exchange rate that applied 
at the date of acquisition of the foreign operation.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to 
that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is 
recognised.
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(u) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an 
asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred.

(v) Non-current assets classified as held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying 
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and the asset 
(or disposal group) is available for sale in its present condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to 
be disposed of together as a group in a single transaction, and liabilities directly associated with those 
assets that will be transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and 
liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the above criteria for classification as held 
for sale are met, regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary 
after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the measurement of the non-current assets (and 
all individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-to-date in accordance with the 
accounting policies before the classification. Then, on initial classification as held for sale and until 
disposal, the non-current assets (except for certain assets as explained below), or disposal groups, are 
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions 
to this measurement policy so far as the financial statements of the Group and the Company are 
concerned are deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, financial assets (other than 
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) and investment properties. These assets, even 
if held for sale, would continue to be measured in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in note 
1.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held 
for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or is 
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for sale, the noncurrent asset is not depreciated or 
amortised.
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1 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(w) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or 
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or 
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(x) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s 
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products 
and services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to 
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating 
segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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2 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements:

(a) Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are included in the statement of financial position at their market value, which 
are assessed annually by external qualified valuers, after taking into consideration the net rental income 
allowing for reversionary income potential.

The fair value of investment properties reflects, among other things, rental income from current leases 
and assumptions about rental income from future leases in the light of current market conditions. The 
fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect of the 
investment properties.

(b) Assessment of the useful economic lives for depreciation of other property, plant and 

equipment

The Group depreciates other property, plant and equipment in accordance with depreciation policy as set 
out in note 1(h). The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’ estimate of the periods during which the 
Group intends to derive future economic benefits from the use of these assets.

(c) Assessment of provision for properties held for resale

Management determines the net realisable value of properties held for resale by using the prevailing 
market data such as most recent sale transactions and market survey reports available from independent 
property valuers.

Management’s assessment of net realisable value of properties held for resale requires judgement as 
to the anticipated sale prices with reference to the recent sale transactions in nearby locations and the 
related costs to be incurred in selling the property. The Group’s estimates may not be accurate and might 
need to be adjusted in later periods.
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3 Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

(a) Staff costs
Contributions to defined contribution plan 23,106 21,669
Salaries, wages and other benefits 517,434 522,452

540,540 544,121

The Group participates in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong 
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction 
of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement 
plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees 
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% (2014: 5%) of the employees’ relevant 
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 (HK$25,000 prior to June 2014). 
Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

Employees of subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China are required to participate in defined 
contribution retirement schemes which are administered and operated by the local municipal 
government. Those subsidiaries contribute funds which are calculated on certain percentage of the 
average employee salary as agreed by the local municipal government to the scheme to fund the 
retirement benefits of the employees.

(b) Finance costs
Interest on bank advances and other borrowings 27,949 32,243
Other borrowing costs 5,874 5,762

 

33,823 38,005
 

(c) Other non-operating net income
Net gain on disposal of properties (123,451) –
Impairment loss on available-for-sale securities 11,719 2,676
Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale securities (11,816) (14,344)
Net realised and unrealised gains on trading securities (4,169) (3,219)

(127,717) (14,887)

(d) Others
Auditors’ remuneration 3,192 3,474
Net foreign exchange loss 39,668 16,255
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of other property, plant and equipment 317 (334)
Operating lease charges: minimum lease 
 payments – property rentals 102,925 94,678
Rentals receivable from investment properties less direct 
 outgoings of HK$43,779,000 (2014: HK$49,696,000) (654,896) (616,312)
Other rental income less direct outgoings of 
 HK$7,831,000 (2014: HK$7,763,000) (127,083) (117,886)
Dividend income from listed securities (5,050) (5,123)
Bank interest income (53,540) (46,884)
Interest income from unlisted debt securities (6,551) (13,925)
Impairment loss on trade receivables (note 17(b)) 70 203
Reversal of provision for properties held for resale (252) (1,294)
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4 Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax – Hong Kong Profits Tax
Provision for the year 133,176 124,275
Over-provision in respect of prior years (1,094) (264)

 

132,082 124,011
 

Current tax – Overseas Taxation
Provision for the year 4,539 6,019
Under-provision in respect of prior years – 59

 

4,539 6,078
 

Deferred tax
Change in fair value of investment properties 1,862 790
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 9,371 10,139

 

11,233 10,929
 

147,854 141,018
 

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable 
profits for the year.

Overseas taxation is calculated at rates of tax applicable in countries in which the Group is assessed for 
tax.

Share of associates’ taxation for the year ended 31 December 2015 of HK$8,000 (2014: HK$8,000) is 
included in the share of profits less losses of associates.

Share of a joint venture’s taxation for the year ended 31 December 2015 of HK$Nil (2014: HK$Nil) is 
included in the share of loss of a joint venture.
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4 Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and profit before taxation at applicable tax rates:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Profit before taxation 1,543,474 1,470,645
 

Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at 
 the rates applicable to profits in the countries concerned 252,036 238,133
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 14,953 6,672
Tax effect of non-taxable income (138,195) (132,385)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised in the year 22,240 30,825
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised in prior years utilised this year (2,086) (2,022)
Over-provision in prior years (1,094) (205)

 

Actual tax expense 147,854 141,018
 

5 Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and 
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation is as follows:

2015

Directors’ fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Board of directors
Dr Lee Shau Kee 50 – – – 50
Mr Lee Ka Shing 100 – – – 100
Dr Patrick Fung Yuk Bun 200 – – – 200
Mr Dominic Cheng Ka On 200 – – – 200
Mr Richard Tang Yat Sun 100 – – – 100
Dr Colin Lam Ko Yin 50 – – – 50
Mr Eddie Lau Yum Chuen 50 – – – 50
Mr Norman Ho Hau Chong 50 – – – 50
Mr Alexander Au Siu Kee 50 – – – 50

Independent non-executive 
 directors
Dr David Sin Wai Kin 250 – – – 250
Mr Wu King Cheong 250 – – – 250
Dr Timpson Chung Shui Ming 250 – – – 250
Mr Howard Yeung Ping Leung 50 – – – 50
Mr Thomas Liang Cheung Biu 50 – – – 50

     

1,700 – – – 1,700
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5 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

2014

Directors’ 
fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Discretionary 
bonuses

Retirement 
scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Board of directors
Dr Lee Shau Kee 72 – – – 72
Mr Lee Ka Shing 78 – – – 78
Dr Patrick Fung Yuk Bun 200 – – – 200
Mr Dominic Cheng Ka On 200 – – – 200
Mr Richard Tang Yat Sun 100 – – – 100
Dr Colin Lam Ko Yin 50 – – – 50
Mr Eddie Lau Yum Chuen 50 – – – 50
Mr Norman Ho Hau Chong 50 – – – 50
Mr Alexander Au Siu Kee 50 – – – 50

Independent non-executive 
 directors
Dr David Sin Wai Kin 250 – – – 250
Mr Wu King Cheong 250 – – – 250
Dr Timpson Chung Shui Ming 250 – – – 250
Mr Howard Yeung Ping Leung 50 – – – 50
Mr Thomas Liang Cheung Biu 50 – – – 50

1,700 – – – 1,700
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6 Emoluments of five highest paid individuals and senior management

(a) Emoluments of five highest paid individuals

No directors of the Company was included in the five individuals with the highest emoluments (2014: Nil). 
Details of directors’ emolument are disclosed in note 5. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of 
the five (2014: five) individuals is as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 10,561 10,897
Discretionary bonuses 2,309 2,482
Retirement scheme contributions 435 432

 

13,305 13,811
 

The emoluments of the five (2014: five) individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following 
bands:

Number of individuals
2015 2014

Emolument band*
HK$0 – HK$1,000,000 – –
HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 – –
HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 2 –
HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000 – 3
HK$2,500,001 – HK$3,000,000 1 –
HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000 1 1
HK$3,500,001 – HK$4,000,000 1 1

 

5 5
 

(b) Emoluments of senior management

Other than the emoluments of directors and five highest paid individuals disclosed in notes 5 and 6(a), the 
emoluments of the senior management whose profiles are set out in the section “Biographical Details of 
Directors and Senior Management” of the annual report (of which these financial statements form a part) 
fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2015 2014

Emolument band*
HK$0 – HK$1,000,000 – 1
HK$1,000,001 – HK$1,500,000 1 –
HK$1,500,001 – HK$2,000,000 1 2

 

2 3
 

* Including salaries, allowances and benefits in kind, discretionary bonuses and retirement scheme contributions
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7 Dividends

(a) Dividends attributable to the year

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interim dividend declared and paid of 20 Hong Kong cents per share
 (2014: 17 Hong Kong cents per share) 115,447 98,129
Final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting 
 period of 34 Hong Kong cents per share
 (2014: 32 Hong Kong cents per share) 196,259 184,714

 

311,706 282,843
 

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been recognised as a liability at 
the end of the reporting period.

(b) Dividends attributable to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Final dividend in respect of the previous financial year, approved and 
 paid during the year, of 32 Hong Kong cents per share 
 (2014: 27 Hong Kong cents per share) 184,714 155,852

 

8 Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity 
shareholders of the Company of HK$1,355,385,000 (2014: HK$1,300,775,000) and the weighted average 
of 577,232,115 ordinary shares (2014: 577,231,252 shares) in issue during the year, calculated as 
follows:

(i) Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2015 2014
’000 ’000

Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 577,231 577,231
Effect of exercised bonus warrants (note 25(b)(ii)) 1 –

 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 577,232 577,231
 

(b) Diluted earnings per share

The Company’s bonus warrants as at 31 December 2015 do not give rise to any dilution effect to the 
earnings per share and there are no other potential dilutive ordinary shares in existence during the years 
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, and hence diluted earnings per share is the same as the basic 
earnings per share.
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9 Segment reporting

The Group manages its businesses by segments which are organised by business lines. In a manner 
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the Group’s board and senior 
management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has 
identified the following five reportable segments.

Property rental : The leasing of office and retail premises to generate rental income 
and to gain from the appreciation in properties’ values in the long 
term

Hotels and serviced apartments : The operating of hotels and serviced apartments and provision of 
hotel management services

Food and beverage operation : The operation of restaurants

Travel operation : The operation of travel agency services

Others : Other businesses

The principal activities of the Group are property rental, hotels and serviced apartments, food and 
beverage operation and travel operation. Revenue represents rental income, income from hotels and 
serviced apartments, food and beverage, travel and other operations.

(a) Segment results

Revenue and expense are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales generated by 
those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments. The measure used for reporting segment 
results is “adjusted EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation”. 
To arrive at adjusted EBITDA the Group’s earnings are further adjusted for items not specifically attributed 
to individual segments, such as share of profits less losses of associates and share of loss of a joint 
venture, other non-operating items and other corporate expenses.
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9 Segment reporting (Continued)

(a) Segment results (continued)

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided to the Group’s board and senior 
management for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance for the 
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 is set out below.

2015

Property 
rental

Hotels and 
serviced 

apartments

Food and 
beverage 
operation

Travel 
operation Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 833,589 675,262 466,581 1,275,343 – 3,250,775

Inter-segment revenue – 2,142 6,174 – – 8,316
      

Reportable segment revenue 833,589 677,404 472,755 1,275,343 – 3,259,091

Elimination of inter-segment revenue (8,316)
 

Consolidated revenue 3,250,775
 

Reportable segment results (adjusted EBITDA) 723,843 238,913 45,139 73,914 (2,430) 1,079,379

Unallocated corporate expenses (255,044)
 

824,335

Finance costs (33,823)

Share of profits less losses of associates 57

Share of loss of a joint venture (902)

Other non-operating net income 127,717

Net increase in fair value of investment properties 626,090 – – – – 626,090
 

Consolidated profit before taxation 1,543,474
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9 Segment reporting (Continued)

(a) Segment results (continued)

2014

Property 
rental

Hotels and 
serviced 

apartments

Food and 
beverage 
operation

Travel 
operation Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue from external customers 791,657 693,793 389,003 1,231,863 20,773 3,127,089
Inter-segment revenue – 2,531 6,039 – – 8,570

Reportable segment revenue 791,657 696,324 395,042 1,231,863 20,773 3,135,659
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (8,570)

Consolidated revenue 3,127,089

Reportable segment results (adjusted EBITDA) 676,779 244,249 15,955 53,302 (14,722) 975,563
Unallocated corporate expenses (220,369)

755,194
Finance costs (38,005)
Share of profits less losses of associates 6,865
Share of loss of a joint venture (1,647)
Other non-operating net income 14,887
Net increase in fair value of investment properties 733,351 – – – – 733,351

Consolidated profit before taxation 1,470,645

(b)  Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from 
external customers and (ii) the Group non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred 
tax assets. The geographical location of customers is based on the location at which the services were 
provided or the goods delivered. The geographical location of non-current assets is based on the physical 
location of the asset, in case of interests in associates and a joint venture, the location of operations.

Revenue from 
external customers Non-current assets

2015 2014 2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region 3,174,515 3,020,153 12,574,828 11,938,780
The People’s Republic of China 76,260 106,936 630,859 677,211

  

3,250,775 3,127,089 13,205,687 12,615,991
  



113Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, LimitedAnnual Report 2015

10 Investment properties, other property, plant and equipment

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount

Other property, plant and equipment

Investment 
properties Hotel

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings 

held for 
own use Others* Sub-total Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost or valuation:
At 1 January 2015 11,905,710 140,221 7,255 1,600,449 1,747,925 13,653,635

Additions 63,726 – 60 102,487 102,547 166,273

Disposals – – (498) (5,937) (6,435) (6,435)

Exchange adjustments (35,194) – – (5,247) (5,247) (40,441)

Surplus on revaluation 626,090 – – – – 626,090

Reclassification 98,006 – – (98,006) (98,006) –
      

At 31 December 2015 12,658,338 140,221 6,817 1,593,746 1,740,784 14,399,122

Representing:
Cost – 140,221 6,817 1,593,746 1,740,784 1,740,784

Valuation – 2015 12,658,338 – – – – 12,658,338
      

12,658,338 140,221 6,817 1,593,746 1,740,784 14,399,122
      

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2015 – 93,644 5,293 946,201 1,045,138 1,045,138

Charge for the year – 1,918 82 155,172 157,172 157,172

Written back on disposals – – (275) (4,277) (4,552) (4,552)

Exchange adjustments – – – (2,594) (2,594) (2,594)
      

At 31 December 2015 – 95,562 5,100 1,094,502 1,195,164 1,195,164

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2015 12,658,338 44,659 1,717 499,244 545,620 13,203,958

      

* Others mainly comprise machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipment.
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10 Investment properties, other property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

Other property, plant and equipment

Investment 
properties Hotel

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings 

held for 
own use Others* Sub-total Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost or valuation:
At 1 January 2014 11,078,791 140,221 7,037 1,952,390 2,099,648 13,178,439
Additions 21,958 – 8,153 217,422 225,575 247,533
Disposals – – – (135,981) (135,981) (135,981)
Exchange adjustments (16,092) – – (2,686) (2,686) (18,778)
Surplus on revaluation 733,351 – – – – 733,351
Reclassification 87,702 – 337,464 (425,166) (87,702) –
Transfer to non-current 
 assets classified 
 as held for sale (note 15) – – (345,399) (5,530) (350,929) (350,929)

At 31 December 2014 11,905,710 140,221 7,255 1,600,449 1,747,925 13,653,635

Representing:
Cost – 140,221 7,255 1,600,449 1,747,925 1,747,925
Valuation – 2014 11,905,710 – – – – 11,905,710

11,905,710 140,221 7,255 1,600,449 1,747,925 13,653,635

Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2014 – 91,727 5,210 935,456 1,032,393 1,032,393
Charge for the year – 1,917 83 141,940 143,940 143,940
Written back on disposals – – – (129,911) (129,911) (129,911)
Exchange adjustments – – – (1,284) (1,284) (1,284)

At 31 December 2014 – 93,644 5,293 946,201 1,045,138 1,045,138

Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2014 11,905,710 46,577 1,962 654,248 702,787 12,608,497

* Others mainly comprise machinery, furniture, fixtures and equipment and include an amount of HK$350,929,000 representing 
a hotel property under construction, which was transferred to non-current assets classified as held for sale in 2014 and was 
disposed in 2015 (note 15).
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10 Investment properties, other property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties

(i) Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s investment properties measured at the 
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy 
as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is 
classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the 
valuation technique as follows:

– Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

– Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs, i.e. observable inputs which fail to 
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for 
which market data are not available.

– Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties measured using Level 3 inputs.

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, there were no transfers between Level 1 and 
Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels 
of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s investment properties were revalued as at 31 December 2015 and 2014. The 
valuations were carried out by an independent firm of surveyors, DTZ, who have among their staff 
Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the location and category 
of property being valued.

The Group’s management has reviewed the valuation results performed by the independent surveyors 
for financial reporting purposes by verifying all major inputs and assumptions, and assessing the 
reasonableness of property valuation. Such valuation is performed at each interim and annual 
reporting date and is reviewed and approved by senior management.
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10 Investment properties, other property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (continued)

(ii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation techniques
Unobservable inputs 

Range of capitalisation rates

Investment properties Income capitalisation approach

In Hong Kong
– Retail 3.0% to 6.0%

(2014: 3.0% to 6.0%)
– Office 4.4%

(2014: 4.4%)
In the People’s Republic of 
 China (“the PRC”)
– Retail 8.5%

(2014: 8.5%)
– Serviced apartment 7.0%

(2014: 7.0%)

The fair value of investment properties is based on income capitalisation approach which capitalised 
the net income of the properties under the existing tenancies and upon reversion after expiry of the 
current lease. The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the capitalisation rate.

The movements during the year in the balance of Level 3 fair value measurements are set out in note 
10(a) to these financial statements.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in the line item “net increase in fair value 
of investment properties” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Exchange adjustments of investment properties are recognised in other comprehensive income in 
“exchange reserve”.

All the gains recognised in profit or loss for the year arise from the properties held at the end of the 
reporting period.
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10 Investment properties, other property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(c) The analysis of cost or valuation of properties is as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Land and buildings in Hong Kong:
 – long leases 117,145 117,145
 – medium term leases 12,067,482 11,290,594
Land and buildings outside Hong Kong:
 – medium term leases 620,749 645,447

 

12,805,376 12,053,186
 

(d) The Group leases out investment properties under operating leases. The leases typically run for an 
initial period of 1 to 6 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date at which time all terms are 
renegotiated. Lease payments may be varied periodically to reflect market rentals and may contain a 
contingent rental element which is based on various percentages of tenant’s sales receipts.

The total contingent rents recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year are 
HK$18,321,000 (2014: HK$17,414,000).

(e) The gross carrying amounts of investment propert ies held for use in operat ing leases are 
HK$12,658,338,000 (2014: HK$11,905,710,000).

All properties held under operating leases that would otherwise meet the definition of investment property 
are classified as investment property.

(f) Total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 587,170 649,152
After 1 year but within 5 years 534,191 672,704
After 5 years 687 7,720

 

1,122,048 1,329,576
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11 Investments in subsidiaries

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which principally affected the results, assets 
or liabilities of the Group.

All of these are subsidiaries as defined under note 1(c) and have been consolidated into the Group’s 
financial statements.

Name of company
Place of 
incorporation

Place of 
operation

Particulars 
of issued 
and paid 

up capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal 
activity

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held 
by the 

Company
Held by a 

subsidiary

All Best Resources Limited Hong Kong The PRC HK$100 100% – 100% Property rental

Chitat Construction Limited Hong Kong The PRC HK$10,000 100% 99% 1% Property rental

Contender Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$200,000 100% 100% – Hotel operation 
 and property 
 rental

East Dragon Resources 
 Limited

Hong Kong The PRC HK$100 100% – 100% Property rental

Globe Century Development 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% – Property rental

Glory Light Holdings 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% – Restaurant 
 operation

Grand City Resources 
 Limited

Hong Kong The PRC HK$100 100% – 100% Property rental

How Light Investments 
 Limited *

Hong Kong The PRC HK$100,000 100% – 100% Property sale

Korngold Limited * Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100% 100% – Property rental

Merry King Resources 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 90% – 90% Restaurant 
 operation

Mira Moon Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% – Hotel operation

Miramar East Company 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% – 100% Property rental

Miramar Finance Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% 100% – Finance
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Name of company
Place of 
incorporation

Place of 
operation

Particulars 
of issued 
and paid 

up capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal 
activity

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held 
by the 

Company
Held by a 

subsidiary

Miramar Group (Corporate 
 Funding) Co. Limited *

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 99% 1% Finance

Miramar Hotel and Property 
 Management Company 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% – Property 
 management

Miramar Hotel & Investment 
 (Express) Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 100% 100% – Travel agency

Miramar Hotel Management 
 Company Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% – Hotel 
 management

Miramar Travel Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$13,000,000 53.8% 53.8% – Travel agency

The Pinesprop Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100% – Property rental

Rainbow City Development 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% – Restaurant 
 operation

Randall Resources Limited Hong Kong The PRC HK$100 100% – 100% Property rental

Shahdan Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$200,000 100% 100% – Property rental

Smart Faith Investments 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% – Restaurant 
 operation

Strong Profit Resources 
 Limited

Hong Kong The PRC HK$10,000 70% – 100% Property sale

Tsui Hang Village Restaurant 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% 100% – Restaurant 
 operation

Warsaw Investments 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% – Property rental

World Eagle Resources 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 100% – 100% Restaurant 
 operation

11 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)
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Name of company
Place of 
incorporation

Place of 
operation

Particulars 
of issued 
and paid 

up capital

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal 
activity

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held 
by the 

Company
Held by a 

subsidiary

Grand Mira Property 
 Management (Shanghai) 
 Limited~*

The PRC The PRC US$5,000,000 100% – 100% Property 
 rental and 
 management

Shanghai Henderson 
 – Miramar Hotels 
 Management Co. Ltd. ˆ *

The PRC The PRC US$200,000 100% – 100% Hotel 
 management

Shanghai Shangmei 
 Property Co. Ltd. ˆ *

The PRC The PRC US$13,000,000 51.4% – 68.6% Property 
 development

Wuhan Cuisine 
 Cuisine Restaurant 
 Company Limited~*

The PRC The PRC RMB43,400,000 100% – 100% Restaurant 
 operation

* KPMG are not statutory auditors of these subsidiaries. The total net assets and total revenue of these subsidiaries constituting 
approximately 5% (2014: 6%) and 2% (2014: 3%) respectively of the related consolidated totals.

~ Wholly foreign-owned enterprise

ˆ Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise

11 Investments in subsidiaries (Continued)
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12 Interests in associates
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets 21,164 21,107
Amounts due from associates 1,294 1,262
Loans to associates 25,940 25,940

 

48,398 48,309
Less: Impairment loss (46,669) (46,669)

1,729 1,640

Amounts due from associates and loans to associates are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed 
terms of repayment.

All of the Group’s associates are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not available 
and not material (in aggregate and/or individually) to the Group.

Details of the Group’s principal associate are as follows:

Name of associate
Place of 
incorporation

Place of 
operation

Proportion of ownership interest

Principal 
activity

Group’s 
effective 
interest

Held 
by the 

Company
Held by 

a subsidiary

Kamliease International Limited * Hong Kong The PRC 49% – 49% Property sale

* KPMG are not statutory auditors of this associate.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial associates in the 
 consolidated financial statements 1,729 1,640

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of those associates’
– Profit from continuing operations 57 6,865
– Total comprehensive income 57 6,865
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13 Interest in a joint venture
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Share of net assets – 5,079
Amount due from a joint venture – 775

– 5,854

The joint venture was disposed by the Group during the year.

At 31 December 2014, the amount due from a joint venture was unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed 
terms of repayment.

14 Available-for-sale securities
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current
Unlisted debt securities in overseas (note) 66,491 125,825
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 105,879 58,013
Listed equity securities in overseas (note) 53,135 93,517
Unlisted investment fund 26,637 –

252,142 277,355
Current
Unlisted investment fund 33,421 34,337

Total 285,563 311,692

Market value of listed equity securities 159,014 151,530

Note: As at 31 December 2015, an unlisted debt security in overseas, nine listed equity securities in Hong Kong, six listed equity 
securities in overseas and two unlisted investment fund (2014: an unlisted debt security in overseas and two listed equity 
securities in overseas) were individually determined to be impaired on the basis of a material decline in their fair value below 
cost and adverse changes in the market in which these investees operated which indicated that the cost of the Group’s 
investment in them may not be recovered. An impairment loss on these investments of HK$11,719,000 (2014: HK$2,676,000) 
was recognised at 31 December 2015.

15 Non-current assets classified as held for sale

On 26 September 2014, the Company (as vendor) entered into the provisional sale and purchase 
agreement with an independent third party (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Company agreed 
to sell and the Purchaser agreed to purchase the property located on No. 6 Knutsford Terrance (the 
“Property”) at the consideration of HK$480,000,000. Accordingly, the carrying amount of the Property of 
HK$350,929,000 was reclassified from “Other property, plant and equipment” (note 10(a)) to “Non-current 
assets classified as held for sale” at 31 December 2014. The transaction was completed on 9 January 
2015. Net gain on disposal of properties of HK$122,139,000 is recognised during the year.
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16 Inventories
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Consumable stores 13,452 16,188
Properties held for resale 110,600 116,581

124,052 132,769

Properties held for resale of HK$110,600,000 (2014: HK$116,581,000) are net of a provision in order to 
state these properties at the lower of their cost and estimated net realisable value.

17 Trade and other receivables
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 85,048 92,446
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (4,112) (4,042)

80,936 88,404
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments 169,749 182,260

250,685 270,664

All of the trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered within one year except for the amount 
of HK$21,382,000 (2014: HK$23,818,000) which is expected to be recovered after one year.

(a) Included in trade and other receivables are trade debtors (net of allowance for doubtful debts) with the 
following ageing analysis, based on the invoice date (or date of revenue recognition, if earlier), as at the 
end of the reporting period:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

0 to 1 month 56,183 59,263
1 month to 2 months 5,548 13,682
Over 2 months 19,205 15,459

80,936 88,404

The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 26(a).



124 Notes to the Financial Statements

17 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using an allowance account unless the 
Group is satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off 
against trade receivables directly.

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year, including both specific and collective 
loss components, is as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 4,042 3,942
Impairment loss recognised (note 3(d)) 70 203
Uncollectible amounts written off – (103)

At 31 December 4,112 4,042

At 31 December 2015, trade receivable of HK$4,112,000 (2014: HK$4,042,000) was individually 
determined to be impaired. The individually impaired receivables related to customers that were in 
financial difficulties and management assessed that the receivables are expected to be not recoverable. 
Consequently, specific allowances for doubtful debts of HK$4,112,000 (2014: HK$4,042,000) was 
recognised. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually nor collectively considered to be 
impaired are as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Neither past due nor impaired 56,183 59,263

Less than 1 month past due 5,548 13,682
1 to 2 months past due 6,292 6,844
Over 2 months past due 12,913 8,615

24,753 29,141

80,936 88,404

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there 
were no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have 
a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment 
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit 
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over 
these balances.



125Miramar Hotel and Investment Company, LimitedAnnual Report 2015

18 Trading securities
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Listed equity securities in Hong Kong (stated in market value) 14,042 11,396

19 Cash and bank balances
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Deposits with banks and other financial institutions 2,741,769 3,141,765
Cash at bank and in hand 335,728 392,711

3,077,497 3,534,476

Cash and bank balances at 31 December 2015 include HK$79,660,000 equivalent (2014: HK$76,763,000 
equivalent) place with banks in the PRC, the remittance of which are subject to relevant rules and 
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.

20 Trade and other payables
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables 100,207 114,051
Other payables 365,252 344,210
Amounts due to holders of non-controlling interests 
 of subsidiaries (see note 21) 103,435 72,488
Amounts due to associates (note) 4,347 4,362

573,241 535,111

Note: Amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled within one year or are repayable on 
demand.

Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with the following ageing analysis as at the end 
of the reporting period:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Due within 3 months or on demand 67,127 96,283
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 33,080 17,768

100,207 114,051
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21 Amounts due to holders of non-controlling interests of subsidiaries

Except the amounts due to holders of non-controll ing interests of a subsidiary amounting to 
HK$30,965,000 (2014: HK$38,687,000), which is interest bearing at 6% per annum and repayable within 
one year (2014: interest bearing at 6% per annum and not expected to be settled within one year), all of 
the amounts due to holders of non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and 
have no fixed terms of repayment.

22 Bank loans and overdrafts

At 31 December 2015, the bank loans and overdrafts were repayable as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year or on demand 455,187 1,544,784

After one but within two years 422,117 755,906
After two but within five years 545,680 405,679

967,797 1,161,585

1,422,984 2,706,369

At 31 December 2015, the bank loans and overdrafts were secured as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Unsecured bank overdrafts 1,506 3,201
Bank loans
 – Secured 30,285 12,923
 – Unsecured 1,391,193 2,690,245

1,422,984 2,706,369

Interest on bank loans and overdrafts is charged at prevailing market rates.

Bank loans repayable within one year will be settled by re-financing or from the general working capital of 
the Group.
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22 Bank loans and overdrafts (Continued)

At 31 December 2015, the banking facilities of HK$697,590,000 (2014: HK$387,838,000) were secured 
by the Group’s investment in listed equity securities, unlisted debt securities and unlisted investment 
funds with an aggregate carrying value of HK$252,142,000 (2014: secured by investment in listed equity 
securities and unlisted debt securities with an aggregate carrying value of HK$277,355,000). The facilities 
were utilised to the extent of HK$30,285,000 (2014: HK$12,923,000).

All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of the 
Group’s statement of financial position ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with 
financial institutions. If the Group were to breach the covenants the drawn down facilities would become 
payable on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants. Further details of 
the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 26(b). As at 31 December 2015 none of the 
covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been breached (2014: Nil).

23 Deferred liabilities

Deferred liabilities represent refundable rental deposits received on properties held under operating leases 
with unexpired lease terms exceeding one year as at the end of the reporting period.

24 Taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position

(a) Tax (recoverable)/payable in the consolidated statement of financial position represents:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 133,176 124,275
Provisional Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (93,236) (89,289)

39,940 34,986
Balance of Hong Kong Profits Tax provision relating to prior years 4,133 2,015
Overseas tax payable/(recoverable) 1,603 (13,628)

45,676 23,373

Representing:
Tax recoverable (1,023) (15,851)
Tax payable 46,699 39,224

45,676 23,373

None of the tax (recoverable)/payable is expected to be recovered or settled after more than one year.
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24 Taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i) Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised in the consolidated statement of 
financial position and the movements during the year are as follows:

Depreciation 
allowances 

in excess 
of related 

depreciation
Revaluation 

of properties
Future benefit 

of tax loss Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Deferred tax arising 
 from:
At 1 January 2014 171,120 61,909 (3,202) 229,827
Charged/(credited) 
 to profit or loss 10,403 790 (264) 10,929
Exchange adjustments (560) (1,511) – (2,071)

At 31 December 2014 180,963 61,188 (3,466) 238,685

At 1 January 2015 180,963 61,188 (3,466) 238,685

Charged to profit or loss 8,909 1,862 462 11,233

Exchange adjustments (1,286) (3,352) – (4,638)

At 31 December 2015 188,586 59,698 (3,004) 245,280

(ii) Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the
 consolidated statement of financial position (3,846) (3,428)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in 
 the consolidated statement of financial position 249,126 242,113

245,280 238,685
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24 Taxation in the consolidated statement of financial position (Continued)

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of HK$127,854,000 (2014: HK$119,599,000) in 
respect of accumulated tax losses of HK$604,006,000 (2014: HK$562,268,000) respectively as the 
availability of future taxable profits against which the assets can be utilised is uncertain at 31 December 
2015.

The tax losses can be carried forward to offset against the taxable profits of subsequent years for up to 
five years from the year in which they were incurred or there is no restriction on their expiry, depending on 
the tax jurisdiction concerned.

25 Total equity

(a) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s 
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes 
in the Company’s individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set 
out below:

The Company

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
reserve

General 
reserve

Retained 
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at
 1 January 2014 404,062 287,628 1,019,874 300,000 279,461 2,291,025

Changes in equity 
 for 2014:
Profit and total 
 comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – – 161,016 161,016
Final dividends approved 
 in respect of the 
 previous year (note 7(b)) – – – – (155,852) (155,852)
Interim dividends declared 
 in respect of the 
 current year (note 7(a)) – – – – (98,129) (98,129)
Transition to no-par 
 value regime on
 3 March 2014 (note 25(b)) 287,628 (287,628) – – – –

Balance at
 31 December 2014 691,690 – 1,019,874 300,000 186,496 2,198,060
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25 Total equity (Continued)

(a) Movements in components of equity (continued)

The Company (continued)

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserve

General 
reserve

Retained 
profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Balance at
 1 January 2015 691,690 1,019,874 300,000 186,496 2,198,060

Changes in equity for 2015:
Profit and total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – 397,262 397,262

Final dividends approved in respect of 
 the previous year (note 7(b)) – – – (184,714) (184,714)

Interim dividends declared in respect 
 of the current year (note 7(a)) – – – (115,447) (115,447)

Shares issued on exercise of 
 warrants (note 25(b)) 31 – – – 31

     

Balance at
 31 December 2015 691,721 1,019,874 300,000 283,597 2,295,192

(b) Share capital

(i) Issued share capital

2015 2014

No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount
HK$’000 HK$’000

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 577,231,252 691,690 577,231,252 404,062
Transition to no-par value 
 regime on 3 March 2014 
 (note) – – – 287,628
Shares issued on exercise 
 of warrants 2,272 31 – –

At 31 December 577,233,524 691,721 577,231,252 691,690

Note: The transition to the no-par value regime under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance occurred automatically on 3 March 
2014. On that date, the share premium account and any capital redemption reserve were subsumed into share capital in 
accordance with section 37 of Schedule 11 to the Ordinance. These changes did not impact on the number of shares in 
issue or the relative entitlement of any of the members. Since that date, all changes in share capital have been made in 
accordance with the requirements of Parts 4 and 5 of the Ordinance.
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25 Total equity (Continued)

(b) Share capital (continued)

(ii) Bonus warrants

On 10 June 2015, the Company announced a proposed bonus warrants issue on the basis of 
one warrant for every five shares held on the record date (i.e. 30 June 2015). 115,446,250 units 
of warrants were issued on 20 July 2015. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe in 
cash for one share at the initial subscription price of HK$13.50 per share (subject to adjustments). 
The warrants are exercisable at any time during a period of thirty months commencing from the 
date of issue of the warrants (i.e. 20 July 2015). Details of the bonus warrants are disclosed in the 
Company’s announcements dated 10 June 2015 and 16 July 2015 and the Company’s circular dated 
20 July 2015.

During the year, 2,272 units of warrants were exercised to subscribe for totally 2,272 ordinary shares 
in the Company. The new ordinary shares rank pari passu in all respects with the existing ordinary 
shares of the Company. At 31 December 2015, 115,443,978 units of warrants remained outstanding.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

The capital reserve represents positive goodwill arose from acquisition of subsidiaries and associates prior 
to 1 January 2001 which was taken directly to equity on acquisition.

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out in note 1(t).

The application of the general reserve is in accordance with Article 117 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association.

The investment revaluation reserve comprises the cumulative net change in fair value of available-for-
sale securities held at the end of the reporting period and is dealt with in accordance with the accounting 
policy in note 1(f).

The retained profits attributable to associates and accumulated losses attributable to a joint venture 
at 31 December 2015 were HK$13,028,000 (2014: HK$5,202,000) and HK$Nil (2014: HK$920,000) 
respectively.

(d) Distributability of reserves

The application of the capital reserve and the general reserve is in accordance with Article 117 of the 
Company’s Article of Association.

Distributable reserves of the Company at 31 December 2015, calculated under the provisions of Part 6 of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to HK$417,904,000 (2014: HK$320,803,000).

After the end of the reporting period, the directors proposed a final dividend of 34 Hong Kong cents per 
share (2014: 32 Hong Kong cents per share) amounting to HK$196,259,000 (2014: HK$184,714,000). 
This dividend has not been recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.
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25 Total equity (Continued)

(e) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, to meet its financial obligations and continue to provide returns for shareholders and 
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk 
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between 
the higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages 
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light 
of changes in the Group’s business portfolio and economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure by reviewing its net debt-to-equity ratios and cash flow 
requirements, taking into account of its future financial obligations and commitments. For this purpose, 
the Group defines net debt as total interest-bearing borrowings, including interest-bearing amounts 
due to holders of non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, less cash and bank balances. Total equity 
attributable to shareholders of the Company comprises issued share capital and reserves attributable to 
equity shareholders of the Company. Total equity comprises total equity attributable to shareholders of the 
Company and non-controlling interests.

The net debt-to-equity ratios at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2015 2014
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank loans and overdrafts 22 1,422,984 2,706,369
Interest-bearing amounts due to holders of 
 non-controlling interests of a subsidiary 21 30,965 38,687
Less: Cash and bank balances 19 (3,077,497) (3,534,476)

Net debts (1,623,548) (789,420)

Total equity attributable to shareholders 
 of the Company 14,183,039 13,155,008

Net debt-to-shareholders’ equity ratio N/A N/A

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirement.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values
Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risks arises in the normal course of the 
Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in 
other entities.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the 
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receivables and cash and bank 
balances. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit risks are monitored 
on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivable, individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers 
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making 
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customer 
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates. Trade receivables 
are due ranging from 7 to 60 days from the date of billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 60 
days overdue are generally required to settle all outstanding balances before any further credit is granted. 
Normally, the Group does not obtain any collateral from customers. The ageing of trade receivables at 31 
December 2015 is summarised in note 17.

Cash is deposited with financial institutions with sound credit ratings to minimise credit exposure.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in 
the statement of financial position after deducting any impairment allowance. There is no significant 
concentration of credit risk within the Group.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Cash management of the Company and wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group are substantially 
centralised at the Group level. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity 
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves 
of cash and readily realisable marketable securities and adequate committed lines of funding from major 
financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of the 
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date 
the Group can be required to pay:

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

Within 
1 year or 

on demand

More than 
1 year but 
less than 

2 years

More than 
2 years but 

less than 
5 years Total

Carrying 
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 31 December 2015

Trade and other payables 465,459 – – 465,459 465,459
Amounts due to associates 4,347 – – 4,347 4,347
Amounts due to holders of 
 non-controlling interests of 
 subsidiaries 105,803 – – 105,803 103,435
Bank loans and overdrafts 469,370 433,345 553,217 1,455,932 1,422,984
Sales and rental deposits received 203,403 – – 203,403 203,403
Deferred liabilities – 67,553 69,525 137,078 137,078

     

1,248,382 500,898 622,742 2,372,022 2,336,706

At 31 December 2014

Trade and other payables 458,261 – – 458,261 458,261
Amounts due to associates 4,362 – – 4,362 4,362
Amounts due to holders of 
 non-controlling interests of 
 subsidiaries 113,528 – – 113,528 111,175
Bank loans and overdrafts 1,573,155 769,103 413,433 2,755,691 2,706,369
Sales and rental deposits received 218,138 – – 218,138 218,138
Deferred liabilities – 96,983 78,100 175,083 175,083

2,367,444 866,086 491,533 3,725,063 3,673,388
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26 Financial risk management and fair values (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates principally to the Group’s bank loans and amounts due 
to holders of non-controlling interests of subsidiaries. The Group is most vulnerable to changes in Hong 
Kong dollar interest rates. Interest rate risk is managed by the Group’s senior management in accordance 
with defined policies through regular review to determine the strategy as to having the funding in floating/
fixed rate mix appropriate to its current business portfolio.

(i) The following table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s borrowings at the end of the 

reporting period:

2015 2014

Effective
interest rate Amount

Effective
interest rate Amount

HK$’000 HK$’000

Floating rate borrowings

Bank loans 0.881% - 1.136% 1,421,478 0.721% - 2.55% 2,703,168
Amounts due to holders of 
 non-controlling interests 
 of a subsidiary 6% 30,965 6% 38,687

Total borrowings 1,452,443 2,741,855

(ii) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2015, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 25 basis points (2014: 25 
basis points) in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would have decreased/increased 
the Group’s profit after tax and total equity by approximately HK$3,026,000 (2014: HK$5,716,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax 
(and retained profits) that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at 
the end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-measure the amount of interest-bearing 
borrowings held by the Group which expose the Group to interest rate risk at the end of the reporting 
period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the year ended 31 December 2014.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values (Continued)

(d) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from equity investments classified as trading 
securities (see note 18) and available-for-sale securities (see note 14).

The Group’s listed investments are listed in Hong Kong and overseas. Decisions to buy or sell trading 
securities are based on daily monitoring of the performance of individual securities compared to that of 
the Index and other industry indications, as well as the Group’s liquidity needs. Listed investments held 
in the available-for-sale portfolio have been chosen taking reference to their long term growth potential 
and returns and are monitored regularly for performance against expectations. Given that the volatility of 
the stock markets may not have a direct correlation with the Group’s investment portfolio, it is impractical 
to determine the impact that the changes in stock market indices would have on the Group’s portfolio of 
equity investments.

At 31 December 2015, it is estimated that an increase/decrease of 5% (2014: 5%) in the market value of 
the Group’s listed available-for-sale securities, with all other variables held constant, would not affect the 
Group’s profit unless there are impairments. The Group’s total equity would have increased/decreased by 
HK$7,951,000 (2014: HK$7,577,000). For the trading securities, it is estimated that an increase/decrease 
of 5% (2014: 5%) in the market value, with all other variables held constant, would have increased/
decreased the Group’s profit after tax and total equity by HK$586,000 (2014: HK$476,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit after tax (and 
retained profits) and other components of consolidated equity that would arise assuming that the change 
in market value had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-measure 
those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to equity price risk at the end 
of the reporting period. It is also assumed that the fair values of the Group’s equity investments would 
change in accordance with the market values, that none of the Group’s available-for-sale investments 
would be considered impaired as a result of the decrease in market values, and that all other variables 
remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.

(e) Foreign currency risk

The Group owns assets and conducts its business primarily in Hong Kong with its cash flows substantially 
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The Group’s primary foreign currency exposures arise from its investment in subsidiaries and associates 
operating in the PRC and the United States of America. Where appropriate and cost-efficient, the Group 
seeks to finance these investments by Renminbi (“RMB”) or United States Dollars (“USD”) borrowings with 
reference to the future RMB or USD funding requirements from the investment and related returns.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values (Continued)

(e) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The Group is also exposed to foreign currency risk through cash and bank balances and equity and 
debt investments that are denominated in a foreign currency other than the functional currency of the 
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily RMB, USD, 
Singapore Dollars (“SGD”), Euro (“EUR”), Japanese Yen (“JPY”) and British Pound (“GBP”).

The following tables details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting period to currency risk 
arising from recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency 
of the entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in 
Hong Kong dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end date.

Exposure to foreign currencies
2015

RMB USD SGD EUR JPY GBP
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 342,844 530,866 4,529 6,075 755 4,081

Unlisted debt securities in overseas – 66,491 – – – –

Listed equity securities in overseas – 4,953 2,294 40,257 2,886 2,745

Unlisted investment fund in overseas – 10,365 – 16,272 – –

Total 342,844 612,675 6,823 62,604 3,641 6,826

Exposure to foreign currencies
2014

RMB USD SGD EUR JPY GBP
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 820,066 408,339 5,615 11,678 574 14,493
Unlisted debt securities in overseas – 125,825 – – – –
Listed equity securities in overseas – 50,560 5,623 37,334 – –

Total 820,066 584,724 11,238 49,012 574 14,493
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26 Financial risk management and fair values (Continued)

(e) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profits after tax and total equity 
that would arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of the 
reporting period had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained constant. In this 
respect, it is assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars 
would not be materially affected by any changes in movement in value of United States Dollars against 
other currencies.

2015 2014

Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign
exchange

rates

Effect on
profit

after tax

Effect on
total 

equity

Increase/
(decrease)
in foreign
exchange

rates

Effect on
profit

after tax

Effect on
total 

equity
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

RMB 5% 17,142 17,142 5% 41,003 41,003
USD 5% 130 130 5% 130 130
SGD 5% 226 341 5% 281 562
EUR 5% 304 3,130 5% 584 2,451
JPY 5% 38 182 5% 29 29
GBP 5% 204 341 5% 725 725

Results of the analysis represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects on each of the Group 
entities’ profit after tax and equity measured in the respective functional currencies, translated into Hong 
Kong dollars at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose the Group to foreign currency risk at 
the end of the reporting period, including inter-company payables and receivables within the Group which 
are denominated in a currency other than the functional currencies of the lender or the borrower. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.
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26 Financial risk management and fair values (Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of financial instruments measured at the end of the 
reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined 
in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified 
is determined with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation 
technique as follows:

– Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

– Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs, i.e. observable inputs which fail to 
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for 
which market data are not available.

– Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs.

Fair value at
31 December

2015

Fair value measurements at 
31 December 2015

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets:

Available-for-sale securities:
– Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 105,879 105,879 – –

– Listed equity securities in overseas 53,135 53,135 – –

– Unlisted debt securities in overseas 66,491 – 66,491 –

– Unlisted investment fund 60,058 – 60,058 –

Trading securities:
– Listed securities in Hong Kong 14,042 14,042 – –



140 Notes to the Financial Statements

26 Financial risk management and fair values (Continued)

(f) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value (continued)

Fair value at
31 December

2014

Fair value measurements at
31 December 2014

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Recurring fair value measurements

Assets:

Available-for-sale securities:
– Listed equity securities in Hong Kong 58,013 58,013 – –
– Listed equity securities in overseas 93,517 93,517 – –
– Unlisted debt securities in overseas 125,825 – 125,825 –
– Unlisted investment fund 34,337 – 34,337 –

Trading securities:
– Listed securities in Hong Kong 11,396 11,396 – –

During the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, there were no transfers between instruments 
in Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers 
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of unlisted debt securities in overseas in Level 2 is determined by a present value 
technique that takes into account the future cash flows that a market participant would expect to 
receive from holding the liability or debt instrument as an asset.

The fair value of unlisted investment fund is represented by the reported net asset value.

(ii) Fair values of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value

The fair values of receivables, bank balances and other current assets, payables and accruals 
and current borrowings are assumed to approximate their carrying amounts due to the short-term 
maturities of these assets and liabilities.

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31 
December 2015 and 2014. Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries, associates, joint venture and holders 
of non-controlling interests of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment 
terms. Given these terms it is not meaningful to disclose fair values.
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27 Capital commitments

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2015 not provided for in the financial statements were 
as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Future expenditure relating to properties:
Contracted for 51,680 152,706
Authorised but not contracted for – 74,511

 

51,680 227,217
 

28 Operating lease commitments

At 31 December 2015, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
are payable as follows:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 80,319 76,127
After 1 year but within 5 years 141,209 158,315
After 5 years 53,652 70,240

 

275,180 304,682
 

The Group leases a number of properties under operating leases. The leases typically run for an initial 
period of 1 to 11 years, with an option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. Lease 
payments are usually increased annually to reflect market rentals.

29 Contingent liability

The Group has given guarantee in respect of banking facility of a former joint venture to the extent of 
HK$5,000,000 (2014: HK$5,000,000). The banking facility was not utilised at 31 December 2015 and 
2014. As at the end of the reporting period, the directors do not consider it probable that a claim will be 
made against the Group under the guarantee.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of this guarantee as its fair value cannot be 
reliably measured using observable market data and no transaction price was incurred.
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30 Material related party transactions

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group 
entered into the following material related party transactions under the ordinary course of business and 
were carried out on normal commercial terms:

2015 2014
HK$’000 HK$’000

Property agency fee payable to a subsidiary of the Group’s major 
shareholder (note (a)) 3,000 3,000

Travel and ticketing income from subsidiaries and associates of the 
Group’s major shareholder (note (a)) (17,620) (21,361)

Management fee income from affiliated companies of the Group’s major 
shareholder (note (b)) (739) (695)

Hotel and catering service income from subsidiaries of the Group’s major 
shareholder (note (c)) (2,837) (7,356)

Rental and building management fee income from:
– a subsidiary of the Group’s major shareholder for the leasing of Shop 

2004, Miramar Shopping Centre* (3,863) (3,165)
– an associate of the Group’s major shareholder for leasing of Office Whole 

of 18th Floor, Miramar Tower* (21,040) (19,400)
– a subsidiary of the Group’s major shareholder for leasing of Shop 503A-

C and 501-02, Miramar Shopping Centre* (note (d)) (27,857) (22,732)
– a subsidiary of the Group’s major shareholder for leasing of Shop 3013, 

Portion of Podium Roof and Fan Room, Miramar Shopping Centre* 
(note (e)) (4,918) (11,838)

Rental and building management fee payable to:
– an associate of the Group’s major shareholder for the leasing of 

Shop Nos. 3101-3107 and certain floor space of ifc Mall (including 
contingent rental of HK$395,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2015 (2014: HK$200,000))* 16,454 15,847

– a subsidiary of the Group’s major shareholder for the leasing of Units 
Nos. 201-05, West Tower, Beijing World Financial Centre, Beijing, the 
PRC – 1,238

– a subsidiary of the Group’s major shareholder for the leasing of a 
building located at No. 388 Jaffe Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong (including 
contingent rental of HK$1,839,000 for the year ended 31 December 
2015 (2014: HK$1,075,000))* (note (f)) 16,925 14,275

Remuneration for the directors and the senior management personnel of 
the Group (note (g)) 20,813 19,509

 

* These transactions also constitute continuing connected transactions as defined under the Listing Rules.
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30 Material related party transactions (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The property agency fee payable to a subsidiary of the Group’s major shareholder for the provision of property agency services 
to the Group’s investment properties in Hong Kong, was calculated at a certain percentage of the gross rental income from the 
Group’s investment properties during the year.

The Group’s travel division provides agency services to certain subsidiaries and associates of its major shareholder in respect of 
air ticket booking, hotel accommodation and hire car services under similar terms it provides to other customers.

The amounts due to these companies at the year end amounted to HK$10,934,000 (2014: HK$5,938,000).

(b) The management fee income from affiliated companies of the Group’s major shareholder for the provision of management 
services to a serviced apartment, was calculated at a certain percentage of revenue generated from that serviced apartment for 
the year the service provided. The net amounts due from these companies at the year end amounted to HK$148,000 (2014: 
HK$229,000).

(c) The Group’s hotel division provides hotel and catering services to certain subsidiaries of the Group’s major shareholder 
in respect of hotel and outside catering services and food and beverage services under similar terms it provides to other 
customers. The amount due from these companies at the year end amounted to HK$45,000 (2014: HK$2,099,000).

(d) The amount due from this company at the year end amounted to HK$Nil (2014: HK$144,000).

(e) The amount due from this company at the year end amounted to HK$Nil (2014: HK$Nil).

(f) The amount due to this company at the year end amounted to HK$378,000 (2014: HK$142,000).

(g) The emoluments of directors and senior management is determined by the Remuneration Committee having regard to the 
performance and responsibilities of individuals and market trends.
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31 Company-level statement of financial position
2015 2014

HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15,887 20,638
Interests in subsidiaries 1,654,447 1,586,139

 

1,670,334 1,606,777
 

Current assets
Inventories 2,564 4,046
Trade and other receivables 19,716 23,786
Cash and bank balances 2,221,116 3,059,666

 

2,243,396 3,087,498
Non-current assets classified as held for sale – 350,929

 

2,243,396 3,438,427
 

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (87,823) (84,445)
Bank loans – (30,000)
Deposits received (353) (49,855)

 

(88,176) (164,300)
 

Net current assets 2,155,220 3,274,127
 

Total assets less current liabilities 3,825,554 4,880,904
 

Non-current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries (1,406,852) (2,350,709)
Bank loans (123,510) (332,135)

 

(1,530,362) (2,682,844)
 

NET ASSETS 2,295,192 2,198,060
 

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 691,721 691,690
Reserves 1,603,471 1,506,370

 

TOTAL EQUITY 2,295,192 2,198,060
 

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 17 March 2016.

LEE KA SHING COLIN LAM KO YIN
Chairman and CEO Director
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32 Non-adjusting events after the reporting period

After the end of the reporting period the directors proposed a final dividend. Further details are disclosed 
in note 7.

33 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued 

but not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2015

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a few amendments and new 
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2015 and which have not been 
adopted in these financial statements.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments is 
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is 
unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

HK$’million HK$’million HK$’million HK$’million HK$’million

Results
Revenue 3,251 3,127 3,044 2,974 2,496

Profit attributable to shareholders 1,355 1,301 1,278 1,377 1,325

Assets and liabilities
Investment properties, 
 other property, plant and 
 equipment 13,204 12,608 12,146 11,380 10,585
Interests in associates 2 2 2 2 4
Interest in a joint venture – 6 10 8 6
Available-for-sale securities – 
 non-current 252 277 408 250 7
Deferred tax assets 4 3 2 33 23
Net current assets 2,222 2,013 1,755 951 1,169

Total assets less current liabilities 15,684 14,909 14,323 12,624 11,794
Bank loans – non-current (968) (1,161) (1,692) (1,041) (1,423)
Deferred liabilities (137) (175) (127) (117) (125)
Amounts due to holders of 
 non-controlling interests 
 of a subsidiary – (39) – (47) (56)
Deferred tax liabilities (249) (242) (232) (218) (178)

Net assets 14,330 13,292 12,272 11,201 10,012

Capital and reserves
Share capital (Note) 692 692 692 692 692
Reserves 13,491 12,463 11,444 10,380 9,215

Total equity attributable to 
 shareholders of the Company 14,183 13,155 12,136 11,072 9,907
Non-controlling interests 147 137 136 129 105

Total equity 14,330 13,292 12,272 11,201 10,012

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Per share
Earnings 2.35 2.25 2.21 2.39 2.30
Dividends attributable to the year 0.54 0.49 0.44 0.41 0.38
Net asset value attributable to 
 shareholders of the Company 24.57 22.79 21.02 19.18 17.16

Note: In accordance with the transitional provision set out in section 37 of schedule 11 to the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap 
622) on 3 March 2014, any amount standing to the credit of the share premium account has become part of the Company’s share 
capital. Comparative figures have been restated in conformity with current year’s presentation.
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Major properties held for investment and/or own use

Location Lot number Use Lease
Group’s 
interest

(%)

In Hong Kong

The Mira Hong Kong 
118-130 Nathan Road 
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon

Sections A and C 
of KIL6022

Hotel and 
Commercial

Medium 100

Miramar Tower and 
Miramar Shopping Centre 
1 Kimberley Road 
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon

Portion of KIL6454 Commercial Medium 100

1/F., Champagne Court 
16 Kimberley Road 
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon

Portion of KIL6022B Commercial Medium 100

A3, 13/F., United Mansion 
Nos. 37E-37H and 37J-37K 
Jordan Road and Nos. 95-103 
Shanghai Street, Kowloon

Portion of KIL6727 Residential Medium 100

3/F., 47 and 49 Sa Po Road 
Kowloon City, Kowloon

Portion of NKIL498 B&C Residential Medium 100

14 Car Parking Spaces on 
G/F Chi Lan Yuen 
173 Argyle Street, Kowloon

Portion of KIL4194 Car parking Long 100

Basement, South China 
Building, No.1 Wyndham Street 
Hong Kong

Portion of Sections K 
and L of IL80

Commercial Long 100

No. 88 Stanley Main Street, 
Hong Kong

Stanley Inland Lot 
No.105 and Stanley 
Lot No.1130

Commercial Medium 100
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Location Lot number Use Lease
Group’s 
interest

(%)

Outside Hong Kong

Flat A, 1/F., Block 2 
Crystal Garden 
Shekou Special Industrial Zone 
Shenzhen 
The People’s Republic of China

Portion of 102 in 
Shekou Special 
Industrial Zone

Residential Medium 100

Level 4 of Miramar Shopping 
Arcade in Guang Fat Gardens 
496 Huan Shi Dong Lu 
Guangzhou 
Guangdong Province 
The People’s Republic of China

– Commercial Medium 100

Flat Nos. 403 and 503, Block 
1, Jinghua Apartment 
24 Jian Quo Men Wai Avenue 
Chao Yang District, Beijing 
The People’s Republic of China

– Residential Medium 100

80 Flats and 31 Car Parking 
Spaces in Shang-Mira Garden 
Hongqiao Road 
Shanghai 
The People’s Republic of China

– Residential and 
Car parking

Medium 100

Level 1, portion of Level 2, 
Portion of Level 3 and 
Basement Level of the 
Commercial Podium of 
Shang-Mira Garden 
Hongqiao Road 
Shanghai 
The People’s Republic of China

– Commercial Medium 51.4
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company will be held 
at The Ballroom, 18/F, The Mira Hong Kong, 118-130 Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong on 
Wednesday, 8 June 2016 at 12:00 noon to transact the following business:

1. To receive and consider the Audited Financial Statements and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors 
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2015.

2. To declare a Final Dividend.

3. To re-elect Directors.

4. To re-appoint Auditors and authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

5. To consider as special business and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions:

Ordinary Resolutions

(A) “THAT:

(a) a general mandate be and is hereby generally and unconditionally given to the Directors to exercise 
during the Relevant Period (as defined in paragraph (b) of this Resolution) all the powers of the 
Company to allot, issue and deal with additional shares of the Company and to make or grant offers, 
agreements or options (including warrants, bonds, debentures, notes and other securities convertible 
into shares in the Company) which would or might require the exercise of such powers either during 
or after the Relevant Period, provided that the total number of shares of the Company to be allotted, 
issued and dealt with pursuant to the general mandate herein, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights 
Issue (as hereinafter defined), or (ii) any option scheme or similar arrangement for the time being 
adopted for the grant or issue to the employees of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries of 
shares or rights to acquire shares of the Company, or (iii) an issue of shares in the Company upon the 
exercise of the subscription or conversion rights attaching to any warrants or convertible notes which 
may be issued by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, or (iv) any scrip dividend pursuant to the 
Articles of Association of the Company from time to time, shall not exceed 20 per cent of the total 
number of shares of the Company in issue as at the date of this Resolution (subject to adjustment in 
the case of any conversion of any or all of the shares of the Company into a larger or smaller number 
of shares during the Relevant Period) and the said approval shall be limited accordingly;

(b) for the purposes of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the date of passing of this Resolution until whichever is the 
earliest of:

(i) the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company;

(ii) the expiry of the period within which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is 
required by the Articles of Association of the Company or the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) to be held; and

(iii) the date on which the approval set out in this Resolution is revoked or varied by an ordinary 
resolution of the Shareholders in general meeting.
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“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in the capital of the Company open for a period fixed by 
the Directors of the Company to holders of shares of the Company whose names appear on the 
Register of Members of the Company on a fixed record date in proportion to their then holdings of 
such shares as at that date (subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors of the 
Company may deem necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or having regard to 
any restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of any recognised regulatory 
body or any stock exchange in, any territory outside Hong Kong).”

(B) “THAT:

(a) subject to paragraph (b) of this Resolution, the exercise by the Directors during the Relevant Period 
(as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of the Company to buy back shares of the Company on 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) or on any other stock exchange on 
which the securities of the Company may be listed and recognised by the Stock Exchange and the 
Securities and Futures Commission for this purpose, subject to and in accordance with all applicable 
laws and the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange 
or of any other stock exchange as amended from time to time be and is hereby generally and 
unconditionally approved;

(b) the total number of shares of the Company to be bought back pursuant to the approval in paragraph 
(a) above shall not exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 
the date of this Resolution (subject to adjustment in the case of any conversion of any or all of the 
shares of the Company into a larger or smaller number of shares during the Relevant Period) and the 
said approval shall be limited accordingly; and

(c) for the purposes of this Resolution:

“Relevant Period” shall have the same meaning as assigned to it under Ordinary Resolution 5(A) as 
set out in the notice convening this Meeting.”

(C) “THAT:

the general mandate granted to the Directors and for the time being in force to exercise the powers of the 
Company to allot, issue and deal with additional shares of the Company pursuant to Ordinary Resolution 
5(A) as set out in the notice convening this Meeting be and is hereby extended by the addition to the total 
number of shares which may be allotted, issued and dealt with or agreed conditionally or unconditionally 
to be allotted, issued and dealt with by the Directors pursuant to such general mandate such number 
of shares of the Company bought back by the Company since the granting of the said general mandate 
pursuant to the exercise by the Directors of the powers of the Company to buy back such shares under 
the authority granted pursuant to Ordinary Resolution 5(B) as set out in the notice convening this Meeting 
provided that such number of additional shares shall not exceed 10 per cent of the total number of 
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of this Resolution (subject to adjustment in the case of any 
conversion of any or all of the shares of the Company into a larger or smaller number of shares during the 
Relevant Period).”

By Order of the Board
CHU KWOK SUN
Corporate Secretary

Hong Kong, 26 April 2016
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Registered Office:

15/F, Miramar Tower
132 Nathan Road
Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon
Hong Kong

Notes:

(1) A Shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”) entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint (i) another person (whether a 
Shareholder or not) as a proxy to exercise all or any of the Shareholder’s rights to attend and to speak and vote at the Meeting and 
(ii) separate proxies to represent respectively the number of the shares held by the Shareholder that is specified in their instruments 
of appointment of proxies. If a Shareholder appoints more than one proxy, the proxies so appointed are not entitled to vote on the 
resolution on a show of hands. Form of proxy must be lodged at the registered office of the Company at 15/F, Miramar Tower, 132 
Nathan Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting. In 
calculating the periods mentioned for depositing the instrument appointing a proxy, no account is to be taken of any part of a day that 
is a public holiday.

(2) For the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the Meeting, the Register of Members and the 
Register of Warrantholders will be closed from Monday, 6 June 2016 to Wednesday, 8 June 2016, both days inclusive, during such 
period no transfer of shares or warrants (including the allotment of shares upon exercise of the subscription rights attached to the 
warrants of the Company) will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the Meeting,

(i) Shareholders must lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates (together the “Share Transfer 
Documents”) for registration with the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 
1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong (“Computershare”), not later than 4:30 p.m. 
on Friday, 3 June 2016; and

(ii) Warrantholders must lodge all subscription forms accompanied by the relevant warrant certificates and subscription moneys 
(together the “Warrant Exercise Documents”) for registration with Computershare, which also acts as the registrar maintaining 
the Register of Warrantholders, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 3 June 2016.

(3) For the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend, the Register of Members and the Register of 
Warrantholders will be closed from Wednesday, 15 June 2016 to Tuesday, 21 June 2016, both days inclusive, during such period no 
transfer of shares or warrants (including the allotment of shares upon exercise of the subscription rights attached to the warrants of 
the Company) will be registered. In order to establish entitlements to the proposed final dividend,

(i) Shareholders must lodge the Share Transfer Documents for registration with Computershare not later than 4:30 p.m. on 
Tuesday, 14 June 2016; and

(ii) Warrantholders must lodge the Warrant Exercise Documents for registration with Computershare not later than 4:30 p.m. on 
Tuesday, 14 June 2016.

(4) An explanatory statement containing the information necessary to enable the Shareholders to make an informed decision as to 
whether to vote for or against Ordinary Resolutions 5(A) to 5(C) as set out in this notice will be sent to Shareholders together with the 
Company’s 2015 Annual Report.
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